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Monday, June 27, 2005

‑‑‑ Upon commencing at 9:28 a.m.


MR. KAISER:  Well, we will proceed momentarily without the -- the Board is sitting today to hear an application filed by Union Gas on February 28th of this year under Section 90 of the Ontario Energy Board Act seeking an order granting leave to construct two sections of natural gas pipeline.  The proposed facilities will be constructed, owned and operated by Union.  Construction is planned to commence in the spring of next year, with an in-service date of the winter of 2006.  


The proposed facilities consist of the construction of 18.2 kilometres of 48-inch diameter steel natural gas pipeline in the Counties of Lambton and Middlesex, and 17.1 kilometres of 48-inch diameter steel natural gas pipeline in the City of Hamilton in the Region of Halton.  


In addition to the construction of two -- of the two pipelines, Union will upgrade the existing parkway compressor and install further compression at its Dawn compressor station.  


The purpose of the proposed facilities is to allow Union to increase the capacity of the Trafalgar gas transmission system to meet the increasing gas requirements of both current and future customers.  


The Board received written submissions by the parties objecting to a written hearing.  Having considered these submissions, the Board has decided to hold this oral hearing today.  May we have the appearances, please?


APPEARANCES:

MR. LESLIE:  Good morning, Mr. Kaiser.  My name is Leslie.  I appear for Union Gas.  With me is Jonathan Kahn.  That's it.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Leslie.  Mr. Janigan?


MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.  My name is Michael Janigan.  I appear on behalf of the Vulnerable Energy Consumer Coalition.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MR. ROSS:  Good morning, Chairman.  My name is Alan Ross, representing TransCanada Pipelines Limited.  With me is Mr. Jim Bartlett and Mr. Murray Ross, also with TransCanada Pipelines.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Ross.


MR. WAQUE:  Good morning, Mr. Chairman.  My name is Stephen Waque.  I'm here today with Salim Hirji, and we appear for Jane and Ian Munro, two of the landowners that would be impacted by the permission to construct.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Scully.


MR. SCULLY:  Good morning, Mr. Chairman.  Peter Scully appearing for the Federation of Northern Ontario Municipalities and the Cities of Timmins and Greater Sudbury.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  


MR. ROWE:  Good morning, Mr. Chairman.  My name is Robert Rowe, representing Enbridge Gas Distribution.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Rowe.  


MR. GRUENBAUER:  Good morning, Mr. Chair.  It's Jim Gruenbauer for the City of Kitchener.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Any other appearances?  All right.  Mr. Leslie.


PRELIMINARY MATTERS:

MR. LESLIE:  Thank you, sir.  Mr. Chairman, I have given you and Ms. Nowina some documents that were filed last week or delivered last week.  They consist of the witnesses' curriculum vitae and a cover sheet, which is a sort of road map to the evidence that the witnesses we'll be dealing with.  That was intended to give everybody forewarning of the areas of evidence that the witnesses would be able to speak to.


With your permission, I would like to get that marked, because I plan to use it in the course of introducing the witnesses this morning.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  What number is that, Mr. Millar?


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, I believe we can label that as D1.1.

EXHIBIT NO. D1.1:  WITNESSES' CURRICULUM VITAE AND A COVER SHEET

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MR. LESLIE:  I have also given you and Board Staff - and we have copies available for everyone else in the room - a revised Schedule 2 to Section 5.  The ‑‑ the only change to the evidence is a change in the thickness of the pipe wall in one of the segments of the pipeline, and Mr. Mallette, who is here this morning, will speak to that.  I don't think that needs to be marked.  It just needs to replace the existing schedule in the pre-filed evidence.


MR. KAISER:  Can we go back to the first document, Mr. Leslie?  We have your list of proposed witness panels and the statement of qualifications of the different witnesses.  Was that all part of that same exhibit?


MR. MILLAR:  I believe that is the intention, Mr. Chair.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  Thank you.


MR. LESLIE:  There are five witnesses, as you can see.  I wonder if the witnesses could be sworn, Mr. Chair?


MR. KAISER:  Yes.


UNION GAS LIMITED - PANEL 1:

Mark Isherwood; Sworn. 


Carol Cameron; Sworn. 


Larry Hyatt; Sworn. 


Laura Callingham; Sworn.


Gerard Mallette; Sworn.

MR. LESLIE:  Mr. Chairman, before I introduce the witnesses, I should say that Mr. Waque and I have been involved in discussions to try to resolve the issues between our clients, and those discussions are ongoing.  We're hopeful they will be successful, but we expect that we will be involved in discussions this morning, at least.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Waque, in your letter of June 21st you indicated that you may want to raise this as a procedural matter at the outset.  Is that still the case?


MR. WAQUE:  Well, Mr. Chairman, I'm hoping, in view of the progress we've made over the weekend, if I could defer that until we've had an opportunity to continue our dialogue this morning.  Mr. Hirji is with me today and Mr. Leslie has Mr. Kahn, so we were proposing that Mr. Kahn and I would, with your permission, withdraw this morning while today's panel is being heard and continue our discussions.


My client's interest is primarily with the environmental panel that would be heard tomorrow.


MR. LESLIE:  That is acceptable to us, Mr. Chair.  The idea is that Mr. Kahn and Mr. Waque and representatives of our respective clients will meet in a facility we have in the building to try to hammer this out.  Hopefully, there won't be any need to deal with anything else, but I think Mr. Waque wants to reserve the right to speak to this proposed issue if things don't work out.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Millar, was that the understanding, that we were going to hear this environmental panel tomorrow?  I thought we were hearing all the evidence today.


MR. MILLAR:  There were two panels, but I don't believe we had discussed the timing of when each panel would speak.


MR. KAISER:  Does that create a problem for anyone?  Mr. Janigan?


MR. JANIGAN:  Well, I was hopeful to be able to -- I assume we're going to be doing oral argument on this.


MR. KAISER:  I thought we were doing it all today, too, so that's a bit of a surprise.  That's why I raise it.


MR. JANIGAN:  I was hopeful to have it wrapped up.  I have another commitment at 1:30 tomorrow.  I was hopeful to be able to wrap up my argument by then.  That was -- my expectation is going to be out of whack with this -- with that kind of schedule.


MR. KAISER:  How long will the ‑‑


MR. LESLIE:  Sorry, Mr. Chair, this is partially my fault, I think.  I had understood there were two days set aside and I had told Mr. Waque that my estimate was that this panel would take most of today and the environmental panel would come on tomorrow.


MR. KAISER:  How long would the environmental panel take, do you think?


MR. LESLIE:  Well, if we settle with Mr. Waque, I expect not very long. 

     MR. KAISER: Well, what if we started early, Mr. Janigan, then we could possibly accommodate you, and you can get out of here by, say, 11 o'clock. 

     MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.  Mr. Chairman, the other thing is, I don't believe my argument is dependent upon the -- Union's argument in-chief.  So that, if it would assist in the timing of matters, I'm happy to give my argument prior to Union's argument in-chief. 

     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Millar, is that acceptable to you, that we hear this environmental panel at 9 o'clock tomorrow? 

     MR. MILLAR:  I don't have a problem with that.  I'm not sure how long we will take with the first panel.  In fact, I don’t -- maybe Mr. Leslie can assist, I don't know -- in the event that we finish early with this panel, is the environmental panel available today?  Or will they be here -- 

     MR. LESLIE:  They are available, and if we make progress with the negotiations, it may be possible to start this afternoon. 

     MR. KAISER:  Let's just play it by ear. 

     MR. LESLIE:  That's what I was going to suggest. 

     MR. ALAN ROSS:  Mr. Chairman, from TransCanada's perspective, if it’s helpful for this discussion, we anticipate likely in the range of two to three hours, depending upon answers of cross-examination of this panel - panel one, only - and nothing for the environmental panel. 

     MR. KAISER:  All right.  Well, that puts a different perspective on it. 

     All right.  Mr. Leslie you’re to bat. 

     MR. LESLIE:  Thank you. 

EXAMINATION BY MR. LESLIE:

     MR. LESLIE:  Mr. Isherwood, I’ll start with you.   You are Union Gas’s Director of Business Development for Storage and Transportation? 

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  I am.  

     MR. LESLIE:  And your evidence can be found at section 3 of the pre-filed evidence? 

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct. 

     MR. LESLIE:  And the interrogatories that have been put to Union by the various parties are identified in Exhibit D 1.1, and you're able to speak to the interrogatories that are indicated beside your name? 

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes, I am. 

     MR. LESLIE:  And do you adopt that evidence, and the responses to those interrogatories? 

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  I do. 

     MR. LESLIE:  Thank you. 

     Miss Cameron, you are Union Gas's Storage and Transportation Specialist?

     MS. CAMERON:  Yes. 

     MR. LESLIE:  And your evidence is also found at section 3 of the pre-filed evidence? 

     MS. CAMERON:  Yes. 

     MR. LESLIE:  And, again, the interrogatories for which you are responsible are the same interrogatories that Mr. Isherwood can speak to, and they're identified in Exhibit D 1.1? 

     MS. CAMERON:  Yes, sir. 

     MR. LESLIE:  And do you adopt that evidence and the responses to those interrogatories? 

     MS. CAMERON:  Yes, sir. 

     MR. LESLIE:  Mr. Hyatt, you are Manager, System Planning, for Union Gas? 

     MR. HYATT:  That's correct. 

     MR. LESLIE:  Your evidence is found at sections 2 and 4 of the pre-filed evidence? 

     MR. HYATT:  That's correct. 

     MR. LESLIE:  And there are interrogatory responses identified beside your name in Exhibit D 1.1, and you can speak to those answers? 

     MR. HYATT:  Yes, I can. 

     MR. LESLIE:  And do you adopt that evidence and those responses? 

     MR. HYATT:  Yes, I do. 

     MR. LESLIE:  Ms. Callingham, you are Team Leader, Financial Analysis, of Union Gas? 

     MS. CALLINGHAM:  That's correct. 

     MR. LESLIE:  And your evidence is found at section five of the pre-filed evidence? 

     MS. CALLINGHAM:  Yes. 

     MR. LESLIE:  And you are responsible for the interrogatories that are indicated beside your name in Exhibit D 1.1? 

     MS. CALLINGHAM:  Yes, I am. 

     MR. LESLIE:  And I understand you have one revision in your evidence that you would like to speak to? 

     MS. CALLINGHAM:  Yes, I do.  

     The federal budget of February 23rd of this year proposed changes in the tax depreciation rates for new investments in transmission and compression facilities.  The rates for pipeline facilities will increase from four percent to eight percent, and the rates for the compression facilities will decrease from 20 percent to 15 percent. 

     The changes that are proposed can be implemented by the Minister of Finance without Parliamentary approval, and it's our understanding that the Minister intends to enact these changes in the tax legislation.  

     The net impact of the changes will improve the economics for the project. The stand-alone project-specific economics would have a PI of .89 and an MPV of $14.1 million.   And the long-term plan economics would have a PI of 1.23 and an MPV of $84.6 million. 

     MR. LESLIE:  Subject to those comments, do you apt adopt your evidence and the responses to the interrogatories? 

     MS. CALLINGHAM:  Yes, I do. 

     MR. LESLIE:  Finally, Mr. Mallette, you are Project Manager at Union Gas? 

     MR. MALLETTE:  Yes, I am. 

     MR. LESLIE:  And your evidence, for purposes of this panel, is found at section five of the pre-filed evidence? 

     MR. MALLETTE:  Yes, it is. 

     MR. LESLIE:  And that deals with the costs of the project? 

     MR. MALLETTE:  That's correct. 

     MR. LESLIE:  And for purposes of your appearance on this panel, the interrogatory responses that you are responsible for are indicated beside your name?

     MR. MALLETTE:  Yes, they are. 

     MR. LESLIE:  And I understand that there is -- well, there is one change to the evidence that you can speak to.  It's the blue-page update that I filed this morning, having to do with changes in the thickness of the wall in some of the pipe.  Can you explain that change?

     MR. MALLETTE:  Yes.  The only change on that blue page is to change - which is section five, schedule 2 - has changed from 17.1 kilometers of 15.3-millimetre wall-thickness pipe to 11.1 kilometers of 11.7- millimetre wall-thickness pipe and 6 kilometers of 15.6-millimetre wall-thickness pipe.  

     And this change is being made due to a class-location review.   

     MR. LESLIE:  All right.  And, subject to that, do you adopt your evidence and the interrogatory responses? 

     MR. MALLETTE:  Yes, I do. 

     MR. LESLIE:  Thank you.

     Those are all my questions.  Thank you, sir.  The witnesses are available for cross-examination. 

     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Janigan?


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. JANIGAN: 

     MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  

     Panel, my name is Michael Janigan.  I'm with the Vulnerable Energy Consumer Coalition.  My questions concern the position of low-volume, low-income, residential consumers.  And that would be the direction of my question in respect to the cost of this project and the implications on those ratepayers. 

     Now, according to your section five, on page 2 in paragraph 8 - I don't think you need to turn this up, necessarily -- is that Union carries out an economic-feasibility test of a project.  And it's noted that stage one consists of a discounted cash-flow analysis, specific to Union.  All incremental cash inflows and outflows resulting from the project are identified, and that present value of the cash inflows is divided by the MPV of the cash out flows, to arrive at a profitability index.  If the MPV of the cash inflows is equal to or greater than the MPV of the cash outflows, then the PI is equal to or greater than one, and the project is considered economic, based on current approved rates. 

     Now, as I understand from your testimony this morning -- that, because of the tax changes associated with the budget, the calculation for the stage one DCF analysis provided in schedule 7 is a cumulative negative MPV of 14.1 million; am I correct on that?

     MS. CALLINGHAM:  That's correct. 

     MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.  And the cumulative negative -- sorry.   And the PI associated with that stage one analysis goes from .83 to .89? 

     MS. CALLINGHAM:  Yes. 

     MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  For the purpose of this stage one analysis, the project still projects a position that's not economic, given that the revenues of that project will not cover the capital cost of that project.  Am I correct on that? 

     MS. CALLINGHAM:  On the project specific analysis, that's correct --  

     MR. JANIGAN:  Okay. 

     MS. CALLINGHAM:  -- yes. 

     MR. JANIGAN:  Now, this DCF analysis on schedule 7 --the revenue in the cash inflow of 11.2 million, as I understand it, is not based on the revenue of existing rates.  Am I correct on that?  Including --

     MS. CALLINGHAM:  It is based on the revenue from existing rates, and it also includes a market premium -- 

     MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.

     MS. CALLINGHAM:  -- of posted accruals. 

     MR. JANIGAN:  It includes the M12 -- in the M12 revenue, a premium amount.  Is that correct? 

     MS. CALLINGHAM:  Yes. 

     MR. JANIGAN:  Okay. 

     And VECC IR number 3, at tab 7, provides the details and assumptions for the market premiums that were used for the revenue inflow calculation? 

     MS. CALLINGHAM:  Yes. 

     MR. JANIGAN:  Now, I don't think you need to turn this up, but according to tab 1, interrogatory 12 of Board Staff, the binding open season by which these premiums were ‑‑ through which such premiums were calculated was evaluated by the product of rate and term.  Am I correct on that?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.


MR. JANIGAN:  And according to Board Staff IR number 13, the premiums that were bid arranged ranged from zero to six cents a gigajoule per day.  Am I correct on that?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.


MR. JANIGAN:  And the total of all premiums is expected to be $143,478 per year?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.


MR. JANIGAN:  Now, given that there are some M-12 customers that have bid a premium above the posted M-12 rate, does that mean that there are M-12 customers that underpin this project with a term that is less than ten years?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  No.  Every contract that was signed for these facilities had a term of ten years or greater.


MR. JANIGAN:  Well, I don't understand that the trade-off, then, between the rate and term.  As I understood it, if you bid for a lower term -- you wanted a lower term, you paid a higher premium.  If everyone has a ten-year premium, has a ten-year term, why would they pay a premium?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Actually, maybe I could just explain the value calculation a little bit.  When we set out to do the open season, there is really four different variables you can look at when you look at the net present value or the value of the actual bid.  The first one is the absolute volume that's being bid.  We don't include that in the equation, because you want to make sure you treat a small customer or large customer equally.


In terms of the absolute values, somebody bidding 10,000 units versus 1,000 units, we disregard that.  That way both are treated equally.


The second value we did include was term, and we had a minimum bid requirement of ten years and we gave people the option of bidding longer than ten years. And many bid people actually did bid longer than ten years.


The third component is really the rate, and in the case of Union system, it's a fairly simple system.  It has one receipt point, being Dawn, and two delivery points, one Kirkwall, one Parkway.  So for the purposes of evaluation of the bids, we treated both the same again.  So in terms of our equation, our value equation, we assumed that Dawn and Parkway were the same demand charge.  That way, somebody bidding capacity at Kirkwall was treated equal with somebody bidding capacity at Dawn.  There is no differentiation.


The fourth component that we added here was really give people the flexibility and the ability to bid a premium to the M-12 toll.  That's within the scope of the M-12 toll schedule.  And the reason we did that was really two‑fold.  One is there are some folks that can't bid long term.  Either they're restricted by their corporate governance or their corporate policy, so for a lot of people even ten years is a long time to bid for a contract.  


So for those people that can only bid ten years or didn't want to bid any longer, by offering a premium actually gave them some morning flexibility.


And the real reason we chose to have the two variables people bid was to really try to eliminate or minimize the potential parading.  To the extent they have a tie bid for the last piece of capacity, you have to eventually pro rate.  And recognizing that we had a tremendous response to our non‑binding open season over two Bcf a day, we weren't sure what to expect in terms of binding open season.  


So we wanted to be able to provide people as much flexibility as possible and, at the same time, give them a couple of different parameters to consider, minimum conditions being ten years and M-12 tolls, but be able to bid both the premium and a longer term.  And the whole intent here was to try to minimize or eliminate the ability or the need to pro rate.


The example I gave there would be a power plant in Toronto.  If I were to go to a power plant in Toronto and tell them that you bid 100 units but we can only actually provide you 30 units, that would be devastating to the project.  Those projects are project financed, and the banks that are financing those projects want to make sure that all terms and conditions are covered off.  So you really want to make sure that you have as much possibility of providing the full amount as possible and not have that situation.


Another good example would be customers that are downstream of Parkway.  You often have to put together one, two or three different pipelines to get the gas from Dawn to the market area.  So, again, you want to avoid or eliminate, as much as possible, the chance to have to pro rate in that situation, as well.


The third case, our largest transportation customer gave us very firm instructions that they didn't want it pro-rated, either.  So it was really done to try to minimize the pro-rating.


MR. JANIGAN:  I'm a little bit confused about what you've indicated about the minimum term, and then the premium.


You start off with a minimum term of ten years?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.


MR. JANIGAN:  But if you pay a premium, you can have a lower term?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  No.  No.  The minimum term, minimum conditions for the bid, were ten years.


MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  And M-12 tolls.


MR. JANIGAN:  What do you pay the premium for if you want ‑‑ what are you paying the premium for?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  You're paying the premium to improve your position in terms of the value of the bid.  


MR. JANIGAN:  So everybody, every customer that bid, has a term of ten years?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  No.  They have a choice of picking any term they want, longer than ten years. 


MR. JANIGAN:  Oh, longer than ten years?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Right.  So it's quite possible somebody may have bid eleven years and a small premium, or ten years and a larger premium.  The two variables were totally independent, and the only condition was minimum was ten years and M-12 tolls.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Do you have any customers that underpin this incremental expansion project that have committed terms of 30 years?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Sorry?


MR. JANIGAN:  Do you have any customers that have a committed term of 30 years?


MS. CAMERON:  No.


MR. JANIGAN:  The DCF analysis, as I understand, evaluates this project over a term of 30 years; am I correct on that?


MS. CALLINGHAM:  Yes, it does.


MR. JANIGAN:  And the revenue in the DCF analysis assumes the premium revenue plus the M-12 rate, so it doesn't use the strict stage one test to use -- only use the current M-12 rates; am I correct on that?


MS. CALLINGHAM:  It's using the rates that we expect to be in effect as a result of the project.


MR. JANIGAN:  But to which you've added the premium revenues, so strictly speaking --


MS. CALLINGHAM:  That's correct.


MR. JANIGAN:  -- by the stage one test, doesn't include any modification to those rates, as I understand it.  Is that your understanding, as well?


MS. CALLINGHAM:  Well, the stage one test looks at the incremental revenues as a result of the project based on rates that are in effect.


MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.


MS. CALLINGHAM:  And we expect to receive the premium above posted tolls, so it should appropriately be considered in looking at the economic analysis.


MR. JANIGAN:  And including this premium revenue, the result is still a PI that is less than one; am I correct?


MS. CALLINGHAM:  Yes.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Now, in Board Staff IR number 51, there's a DCF analysis that's provided that assumes a revenue stream without the market premium.  I assume this is going to be adjusted by the information this morning, but in this IR it shows a PI of .821 and a negative MPV of 22.196 million; am I correct on that?


MS. CALLINGHAM:  Yes.


MR. JANIGAN:  So, obviously, without that market premium, that DCF analysis would be less favourable than what's provided?


MS. CALLINGHAM:  It's a small reduction, yes.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  By about 1.23 million in this circumstance?


MS. CALLINGHAM:  Yes.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Now, according to Board Staff IR number 14, Union will not have a deferral account to track the premium associated with long-term M-12 transportation services.  Union, however, proposes to include that premium as part of the revenue stream for rate-making purposes in 2007?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.


MS. CALLINGHAM:  Yes.


MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.  Now, for clarification, am I correct in saying that Union is not going to include this premium revenue as part of the transactional service revenue?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.


MR. JANIGAN:  And for the purposes of 2007, then, all of the -- 100 percent of this premium goes into the revenue stream for rate-making and will offset the cost of the incremental capital cost of this project?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.  So, in essence, all customers using Dawn-Parkway system will benefit from the premium.


MR. JANIGAN:  Now, is this going to be in effect for rates -- for rate years beyond 2007?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  It's our hope that in terms of the future rate-making, 2007 will become the re-basing year, and we will then launch into a four- or five-year PBR period post that.


MR. JANIGAN:  But in that period of time -- well, let's assume that we're under a cost of service regime from 2008 onwards.  Conceptually, will the market premiums always flow into - cover - into the rate-stream, rather than transactional service revenues?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  For the term of these contracts, that $143,000 would track the inflow cost bucket.  

     MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.  Would it track it as long as the MPV was less than -- or the PI was less than one? 

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  For the term of the contracts.  

     MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.  But the terms -- the current terms of the contracts, you still won't arrive at a circumstance where you’ve reached a PI of one at the end of the contracts, will you not?  

     MS. CALLINGHAM:  That's right.  PI is .83.  

     MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.  I'm just curious why you would only do that until the end of the contracts. 

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  Because we only have the revenue stream until the end of the contracts.  

     MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And you can't commit for premiums you don't necessarily know you're going to get. 

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  Exactly.  

     MR. JANIGAN:  Okay. 

     Now, according to section five of page 1 of the Union application, it notes that Union is proposing an expansion of the Trafalgar system which will cost, in total, 149.4 million.  And that, as you've -- has been indicated this morning, includes a section from Brooke to Strathroy of 46.728 million, a section from Hamilton to Milton of million, a Parkway compressor upgrade with a capital cost of .864 million and a Dawn compressor amount with an estimated capital cost of 33.954 million.  Am I correct on that?  

     MR. MALLETTE:  Yes, that's correct.  

     MR. JANIGAN:  And only the two 48 pipelines and 25 percent of the Dawn compressor costs require a leave-to-construct approval, and they're subject to this application.  Am I correct on that? 

     MS. CALLINGHAM:  The Dawn compressor costs do not require approval of the Board for construction.  

     MR. JANIGAN:  The 25 percent don't require?  

     MS. CALLINGHAM:  No, it doesn't.  The pipeline facilities are the only facilities proposed in this application that require approval.  

     MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Now, both of the two 48 pipelines that you were proposing to be approved, they require, obviously, the Dawn compressor costs and the Parkway compressor upgrade, I take it.

     MR. HYATT:  To make the full capacity available, all of the facilities are required.  

     MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.  

     Now, this application doesn't include the 75 percent of the Dawn compressor cost and the Parkway compressor upgrade.  Why aren't these two -- you know, the 75 percent of the Dawn compressor costs and Parkway compressor upgrade, why are they not also included in the economic evaluation of the project?  

     MS. CALLINGHAM:  For purposes of the economic evaluation, I was attempting to identify the incremental costs that we’re incurring in order to provide the service to the demands that are proposed in this application.  So I just wanted to isolate out what part of the Dawn compression cost was attributed to the demands we'll be serving.  

     MR. JANIGAN:  Union is still going to request recovery of the outstanding 75 percent of the Dawn compressor costs and the Parkway compressor upgrade in the 2007 rate proceeding, I assume?  

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.  

     MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.  So you will be seeking from the Board to have these costs included in rate base in the future, so that the capital costs are recovered from the ratepayers over time?  

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.  

     MR. JANIGAN:  Now, will this excess capacity from the Dawn compressor and the Parkway compressor upgrade result in more gas going to Dawn and Parkway?  

     MR. HYATT:  As we add additional facilities on to the Dawn-Trafalgar system, that will use up more of the Dawn compression.  

     MR. JANIGAN:  Well, would you agree with me it will create more liquidity at Dawn and Parkway?  

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  I would say it gives the opportunity for future growth that will produce more liquidity at Parkway and Dawn.  

     MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.  Will more liquidity at Dawn, specifically, improve the value of the Dawn storage pools?  

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  More liquidity at Dawn actually benefits the whole entire Province of Ontario and the whole eastern Canadian market.  There is many buyers and sellers at Dawn, and the more liquidity you get at Dawn, the more value there's going to be for people buying gas at Dawn, including drug-purchase residential customers, industrials Union Gas, Enbridge and others.

     MR. JANIGAN:  And the value of the Dawn storage pools. 

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  Not necessarily.  The value of the Dawn storage pool is really driven by seasonal values, summer/winter.  And the fact you have a more transparent, liquid market doesn’t necessarily lead to a conclusion you’ll have higher valued storage. 

     MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Now, conceptually, improvements to the Union system that make the system work better impact favourably upon the perceived value of the company in the financial community.   Would you agree with that, conceptually? 

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  Conceptually, sure.   

     MR. JANIGAN:  And this project is going to provide increased value to shareholders from such a large capital build, given that the rate base will increase, and the return on rate base afforded to the shareholders will also increase.  Correct on that?  

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct. 

     MR. JANIGAN:  Now, according to Board Staff Interrogatory Number 54, the DCF analysis was to include the full cost of the Dawn compression of 33.954 million, the MPV of this project, prior to the budget changes, would be negative 43.759 million and a PI of .702.  So, in effect, the revenues from the M12 customers will not be sufficient to cover the capital cost of 43.759  million.  Am I correct on that?  

     MS. CALLINGHAM:  That's incorrect.  This -- the response to this interrogatory included the full capital cost, 34 million for Dawn compression.  And it only included the revenue from the demands that we’re serving in 2006.  

     It's not an appropriate analysis, in that it does not include the incremental revenues that we’ll earn when we serve the full demands that the compression horsepower allows us to.  

     We would expect that probably even within a year, we would be -- we would be utilizing about two-thirds of that compressor, and we would have incremental money coming in in the future.  

     MR. JANIGAN:  But to the extent that there aren't revenues from incremental revenues from M12 customers, I assume that you're going to be asking other ratepayers to make up the shortfall?  

     MS. CALLINGHAM:  In fact, our proposal will actually benefit ratepayers.  What we did is, we purchased about 21,000 horsepower of compression for $34 million.  It was more than we needed to meet the 2006 demands.  However, that -- we expected in the near future we would have additional demands on the system, and we were trying to come up with the most economic option to serve all the demands we expect.  

     If, in fact, we had have purchased the compressor horsepower on an incremental basis, just to serve demands as they materialize, we would have spent about $40 million over a two-year period.  So, in fact, the $34 million that we are spending is a savings of some $6 million.  

     MR. JANIGAN:  But until those revenues eventuate, I assume that you're going to be asking other ratepayers to make up the shortfall?  It won't be coming from M12 customers?  

     MS. CALLINGHAM:  We expect that in the -- within a year, we will be utilizing that compression horsepower to serve incremental demands coming from our 2007 open season.  

     MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.  And if --  

     MS. CALLINGHAM:  Those revenues will be reflected in the analysis to offset the costs, and the -- and improve the PI  from what is shown here. 

     MR. JANIGAN:  And if your expectations are not met, however, the shortfall is going to be made up from other ratepayers.  It's not going to be added on to the M12 rates. 

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  Actually, if I could maybe ask you to turn to OEB Interrogatory 43?

     MR. JANIGAN:  I have it. 

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  This interrogatory looks at the impact to both the residential customer in the south and the north as well as the impact on M12 rates. You can see the actual impact on residential customers is essentially a credit, so then they have a net benefit by the project.  And the impact on M12 rates is an increase of .4 cents to Parkway and .3 cents to Kirkwall, which is about a 4 or 5 percent increase.  


And to put that in perspective, the ten-year average rate for M10 has ranged between 7.7 and 10 cents as -- if you go back eleven years, it was ten cents and has generally come down over the last ten years to the current level of about 7.7 cents.


So a 4 or 5 percent increase is still well within the normal range of M12, and in fact the ten-year average of M12 is 8.8 cents, so even below the average.  So definitely impact to M12.  I don't want to dismiss that, but the benefit to the residential customers is actually a credit.


MR. JANIGAN:  And that is based upon your estimate of incremental revenues?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That is based on the '06 application that stands.  That's assuming there no OSM builder or anything else.


MS. CALLINGHAM:  And it includes the full $34 million of compression cap.


MR. JANIGAN:  It includes the estimate of incremental revenues; am I correct on that?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  What do you mean by incremental revenues?


MR. JANIGAN:  Incremental revenue was referenced earlier to the ability of the Dawn compression project to generate these additional revenues.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  No, no.


MR. JANIGAN:  It doesn't include those revenues?


MS. CALLINGHAM:  It just includes the revenues from the 2006.  It doesn't include the revenues that will be realized in the future.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  The facilities are built and only used the 25 percent for the duration.  So overall, I think it is a pretty positive impact, given the magnitude of the project.


MR. JANIGAN:  And the incremental revenues that you have referenced with respect to the Dawn compression project, how will they be allocated in terms of Union accounting?  Will it be allocated to the inter-rates or will they be allocated to transactional service revenues?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  The discussion that Ms. Callingham had --


MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  -- I think the assumption is after we filed this evidence, we have since gone out and done a second open season, binding open season, for 2007.  We had a terrific response from that open season, as well.  So it is our expectation today that we still need to finalize contracts over the summer, but we would hope to be in a position to file with the Board by the fall an application to build in 2007, as well.  And we expect to add another loop of facilities, another compressor, bringing on between 450 and 500 million a day of incremental capacity.  That would be all revenue that would flow back through Dawn-Parkway facility cost.


MR. JANIGAN:  Indirectly to offset rates?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  It would have the impact of using the additional facilities that Mr. Hyatt has ‑‑ say, 25 percent becomes -- maybe Mr. Hyatt can comment, but the 25 percent becomes much more user useful in the very first year it is installed.


MS. CALLINGHAM:  We'll be using about 60 percent of the compressor horsepower that we construct this year, should those facilities go in place in '07.


MR. JANIGAN:  I'm going to try to track the revenues.  The revenues go in to directly offset rates, or do they go into the transactional services revenues?


MS. CALLINGHAM:  They would go in to directly offset rates.  They would just be part of the revenues, M12 revenues.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  I just want to ask a theoretical question about the way the system operates.


If the Dawn storage pools are operating at higher pressure levels and if the peak pressure from these pools were, in effect, higher, would Union require less Dawn compression facilities?


MR. HYATT:  The Dawn/Trafalgar system operates in a manner that it assumes a specific pressure out of the Dawn station, and the compression within the Dawn plant also is used to meet the needs of the storage fields.


So -- but they really do operate independently.  The storage operation provides the gas to Dawn.  The compression at Dawn compresses that gas up to the level that is needed by the Dawn/Trafalgar system.  So a change in the Dawn in the storage operation will not affect the operation of the Trafalgar system.


MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you, Panel.  Those are all my questions.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Ross.


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. ROSS:

MR. ROSS:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  Thank you, Panellists.  My name is Allan Ross.  I represent TransCanada Pipelines.  My questions will generally be in the nature in respect to the costs and economic portions of your evidence and, to some degree, in respect of policy.


I would like to initially explore with you aspects of Union's proposed long-term expansion, and I believe these may initially be for you, Mr. Isherwood.


Would you agree that Union has completed a long-term economic an analysis of expanding the Trafalgar system?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think as part of this application, we looked at what it would -- what the probability index would be if we installed all the facilities in '07 or if we did it in year eleven, which had a PI 1.  So some of this is contained in this evidence.  


MR. ROSS:  And has Union undertaken any market analysis in support of this long-term expansion?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  We have not.


MR. ROSS:  I would like to introduce, if I may, an aid to cross.  It was provided to your counsel earlier and we will, with Board Staff's permission, distribute copies of it.


What it is, in particular, is an energy and environmental analysis; that is, an EEA analysis.  It's a document specifically entitled "System Gas Supply in Ontario:  The role of the regulated utility."  And it's dated September 27th, 2004, and I will give Board Staff a moment to distribute that.


MR. KAISER:  Any objections to this, Mr. Leslie?


MR. LESLIE:  No objections, sir.  Presumably it's not itself evidence at this stage.  Mr. Isherwood's answers are for that purpose.


MR. MILLAR:  Exhibit D 1.2, Mr. Chair.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

EXHIBIT NO. D1.2:  DOCUMENT ENTITLED, "SYSTEM GAS SUPPLY IN ONTARIO:  THE ROLE OF THE REGULATED UTILITY."


MR. ROSS:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  Mr. Isherwood, if you have that in front of you, are you familiar with this document?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes, I am.


MR. ROSS:  Was it sponsored by or prepared on behalf of Union Gas?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes, it was.


MR. ROSS:  And was it prepared for the Ontario Energy Board Natural Gas Forum of 2004?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  It was part of the Natural Gas Forum in relation to the system supply aspect of that discussion.


MR. ROSS:  And would you agree that this document suggests that a market analysis has been undertaken?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  For system supply relative to direct purchase activity in Ontario, it was.


MR. ROSS:  I would like to refer you specifically to page 10 of the document you have in front you, and that page is entitled "Natural Gas Can Supply Ontario", and I will give you a moment to turn it up.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes, I have it.


MR. ROSS:  Doesn't this diagram suggest that LNG, or liquefied natural gas, can supply Ontario?  


MR. ISHERWOOD:  It actually supplies Ontario today.


MR. ROSS:  And can you confirm the quantity of LNG that is represented in the diagram on page 10?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I cannot.  I cannot.


MR. ROSS:  You cannot.  Is it something you would be able to do by way of undertaking, or is it information that is simply is unavailable?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think the whole question of how much LNG would be built in North America at this point is still a question mark and where that LNG will come in.  Whether it is the Gulf coast, Quebec or the northern seaboard is still very much a question of discussion.


MR. ROSS:  Specifically with respect to the diagram at page 10, would you agree that that document shows that LNG will flow from Quebec and the Maritimes westward?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Actually, I have a fairly poor black and white copy, so -- I have seen this same document in colour, but, generally speaking, the LNG in Quebec would flow into the Quebec, Ontario and northeast market.  In the Maritimes, LNG would flow into the primarily northeast market, maybe back into Ontario a little bit, as well.


MR. ROSS:  I want to refer you to Section 5, Schedule 10 of your evidence.  I'm not sure that you need to turn it up at this stage, but, in particular, I'm referring to the 1,373,833 gigajoule per day expansion that is referenced there.  

     I will give you a moment to turn that up, if you wish.  

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes, I have it.  

     MR. ROSS:  Does this expansion take into account LNG supply that is referred to on page 10 of the EEA document?  

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  This document basically just lists the entire facilities required to complete the Dawn-Parkway loop.  We're currently constructing the NPS-48 loop, and this document strictly just gives what is left to do, with no timetable in terms of when it would be done.  Having said that, the ‘O6 is obviously before us today.  In terms of ‘07, we expect to do two more facilities.  And depending on the Ontario power market, ‘08 and ‘09, we’ll likely expand again. 

     MR. ROSS:  But, sir, specifically with respect to LNG, can we agree that LNG supply, that is at least referred to on page 10 of the EEA document, is not taken into account in this figure? 

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  The two are totally unlinked, at this point.  

     MR. ROSS:  Would a consideration of LNG make a difference on Union's long-term-expansion economic analysis?  

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  We've given LNG some thought in terms of the impact it would have on our system.  And I would think of Dawn as really serving two purposes.  One is as a supply point, so people actually buy and transact gas at Dawn.  The other point of Dawn, obviously, is to be a balancing point, for the use of storage.   

     So from the point of view of LNG landing in Quebec, as an example, I would suggest that Dawn may have less use as a supply point for the customers that have access to LNG in Quebec.  But I think Dawn will still play a very prominent role in terms of balancing gas.  When LNG lands in Quebec, or on the east coast, it will have a very strong winter market, and it’ll have a very weak summer market.  And my expectation would be some of that volume needs to come back to New York, Michigan and Dawn for storage, during summertime.  

     So there are pros and cons, and it may have both a positive impact and a negative impact. 

     MR. ROSS:  Just so I am very clear on this, specifically with respect to a consideration of the LNG in your economic analysis, you would agree that it did not form a substantial piece of that analysis. 

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  The only part of the analysis that we did in detail is 2006, and LNG is not part of the ‘06 consideration.  

     MR. ROSS:  I would like to refer you, as well, to an interrogatory response by EEA in TransCanada’s North Bay junction application.  This is material I’ve also provided to your counsel, in advance. 

     I -- with the Board's permission, I will distribute a document of that, as well.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Exhibit D1.3, Mr. Chair. 

EXHIBIT NO. D1.3:  INTERROGATORY RESPONSE BY EEA IN TRANSCANADA’S NORTH BAY JUNCTION APPLICATION

     MR. ROSS:  While that is being distributed, I will specifically refer to the interrogatory response I'm thinking of.  And that is, and I quote:  

“Quebec LNG would reduce natural gas flows into the region over both the TransCanada main line and from the US mid-west via Dawn.  The decline in flows into the region would be partially offset by an increase in exports to the US north-east via Niagara, Iroquois, and PNG TS.” 

     I’ll give you a moment to turn up that document.  

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  I have it. 

     MR. ROSS:  Are you familiar with this interrogatory response? 

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  I'm very familiar.  And I guess I go back to my earlier statement that Dawn serves two purposes, supply and balancing.  I think -- I can't speak for EA, but my sense is, the discussion around that is on the supply side.  If you turn the page to the next page, about mid-page, it also talks about -- the increased availability of natural gas in the US north-east would also increase a need for and value of natural gas storage in the market area including Dawn.  

     So it's back to my original point that -- if I look at GMI as an example - and I probably shouldn't talk specifically about a customer - but, obviously, the LNG in Quebec is a focal point of their strategy.  They ship approximately 250- or 300,000 gJs a day on TransCanada.  The LNG facility is about 500,000 gJs a day in capacity.  So my first expectation would be that they would de-contract the long haul, and replace it with LNG.  That would basically give them the capability having 300 a day, right at their distribution facility.  It doesn't diminish the need for them to have storage, so my sense on Quebec LNG and storage is that GMI and others in the area will still need to get back to Dawn, and Dawn-Parkway will still be required for the winter, for peaking.  

     MR. ROSS:  Mr. Isherwood, I just have a couple of specific questions about this document.  I just want to confirm for the record that it was sponsored by or prepared on behalf of Union Gas?  

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes, it was. 

     MR. ROSS:  And can you take it, subject to check, that the reference to the region in this interrogatory response was eastern Canadian natural gas markets, that being Ontario and Quebec?  

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  I would state, subject to check, sure. 

     MR. ROSS:  And wasn't some sort of market analysis required for this response?

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  It may have been done in their own shop, but I did not see it. 

     MR. ROSS:  And is it your understanding that the analysis done for the North Bay junction, that is, this IR -- the proceeding which the IR is a part of, was considered in Union's application currently before the Board?  

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  I'm sorry, can you repeat that please?    

     MR. ROSS:  Sure.  Was analysis done for the North Bay junction matter considered in Union's application currently before the Board here?  

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  The driver for the application before the Board was the contracts we have for the capacity, and that's the subject matter that drove the application and will drive the facilities. 

     MR. ROSS:  Let me try and rephrase my question.  Was the economic analysis undertaken, which would have been part of this IR response that you’ve got in front of you for the North Bay junction matter -- was any analysis prepared in respect of that IR also considered in respect of this application currently before the Board? 

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  I, personally, didn't consider the North Bay junction when I prepared my evidence.  

     MR. ROSS:  The IR response that we're discussing here refers to reduced flows.  Would you agree? 

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.  

     MR. ROSS:  And can you explain how that is accounted for in the 1,373,833 gJ a day future build? 

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  We're not before the Board asking for permission to build the full loop of the Dawn-Parkway.  We're before the Board asking for permission to build just the ‘06 facilities. 

     MR. ROSS:  But you would agree that some of that long-term analysis is, indeed, included in your application, for the purposes of determining PI, for example? 

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think it's fair to say that the evaluation that was done was, because we do not have a confident long-term forecast in terms of the M12 market, in terms of how much it will grow by -- I think what Ms. Callingham was trying to establish was, sort of, the two ends of the spectrum.  The first end is, what if all the facilities which remain got built in 2007?  It has a very positive PI.  And then the question was, how far out in the future would all the facilities have to be built to still have a PI of one?  And the answer was 11 years. 

     So, if I look at our plan to date, of the nine facilities listed on this page, we're building three in 2006.  Which leaves six facilities left.  We expect to build two in 2007, which would leave four facilities left.  The Ontario government just announced more power in downtown Toronto in the west end of Toronto, likely for 2008, 2009.  That is very likely to also drive more facilities.  

     So is this really a scenario analysis, to see how likely was it that we would get these facilities built over 11 years 

     MR. ROSS:  Mr. Isherwood, just for the record, I would like to establish a couple of things with respect to those scenarios and scenario analysis, and some of the assumptions underpinning them. 

     Can you confirm that Union's economic analysis looked at two scenarios?  

     MS. CALLINGHAM:  The economic analysis for the long-term plan did look at two scenarios:  we built everything in -- by ‘07, and if we delayed any ‘07 builds for 11 years. 

     MR. ROSS:  So we can agree that one scenario assumed that all facilities were in service by November 1st, 2007.  And a second scenario delays the end service date for as long as 11 years, correct. 

     MS. CALLINGHAM:  It was just an analysis to be indicative of what the future economics will be, once we construct the remaining facilities.  Yes.  

     MR. ROSS:  In respect to the first scenario, that is, an all-facilities-in-service-by-November-1st-2007 scenario, would you agree that this scenario is unlikely to occur?  

     MS. CALLINGHAM:  Yes, it's unlikely to occur.  We would expect that by ‘07, as Mr. Isherwood pointed out, we may construct two more facilities by ‘07, Strathroy, Lowell and Parkway B facilities.  When those facilities are constructed, the combined PI of the facilities we're seeking approval of in this application and those facilities would bring the PI up to one, on a long-term basis. 

     Future facilities that we build will just improve that PI.  So this was just to give an indication that, once all the facilities are constructed, the PI would be in the range of one to 1.2.  And 1.2 is unlikely.  

     MR. ROSS:  I’d like to move to the second scenario, that being where facilities are delayed for up to 11 years. 

With respect to this specific scenario, does it assume uniform capacity additions over those eleven years?


MS. CALLINGHAM:  We didn't do the analysis because it was indicative of that we expected the facilities to not be put in place for an entire eleven-year period.


We fully expect to be building more facilities next year or the year after, and, as Mr. Isherwood pointed out, by 2008 or 2009, we may be constructing facilities to meet the power market. So the expectation is that the facilities would be constructed sooner rather than later.  


The analysis of going out eleven years was just to indicate that if we didn't do anything, which was very unlikely, we would still have a PI of one, once all the facilities are constructed.


MR. ROSS:  But just so I am clear, yearly capacity additions were not then calculated for the second scenario?


MS. CALLINGHAM:  No.  And, in fact, we just did the second scenario as a sensitivity, because we didn't have a longer-term forecast where we could actually indicate how the facilities would be staged into the future.


MR. ROSS:  But did you have any assumptions, for example, as to whether this -- those additions would be front-end loaded, back-end loaded, which years they might occur in?


MS. CALLINGHAM:  Our indications are that it would be more front-end loaded.  As I said, should we construct the facilities in 2007 that we're planning on, the PI would be one at that point on a long‑term-plan basis.  When we construct more facilities in '08 or '09, the PI will just improve.


So the expectation was that the construction would occur sooner rather than later.


MR. ROSS:  Now, when you refer to indications or expectations of sooner rather than later or front-end loaded, can you provide any quantitative background on this?  Can you explain quantitatively?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think the example I gave was there's nine facilities still listed on this page.  They're a mix of compressors and pipeline.  In '06, we're building three of those nine, and in '07 -- and, again, this is subject to a proper framework, regulatory framework, but our expectation is that we will have a re-basing in 2007 and we'll then go into a PBR period for four or five years that would have parameters that would support long-term growth.


With that in mind, so in the first two years, '06 and '07, you're building five of the nine facilities.


MS. CALLINGHAM:  And the construction of those facilities alone would give you a PI of one.  The ‑‑ when future construction occurs, the PI would improve for the long-term plan.


MR. ROSS:  But I would like to explore further some of the assumptions behind your yearly capacity additions.  Presumably you would have had to have had some further assumptions as to what those capacity additions would be.


Can you help me out with what that might be?


MS. CALLINGHAM:  Yes.  The schedule of the capacity additions are provided in the Section 5, Schedule 10 evidence.  The future facilities in 2007 plus shown on that schedule indicates the staging of additional facilities.


In the response to Enbridge, question 2, that interrogatory response lays out the capacity associated with each of the segments that are listed on Section 5, Schedule 10.


MR. ROSS:  I recognize that we're dealing with assumptions with respect to scenario 2 and capacity additions used in the scenario analysis.


Can you confirm that this scenario assumes a contract profile that matches your capacity addition profile?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Maybe I could take a stab at this.  A second scenario, which was in the eleven-year scenario, the assumption there was we built what we're planning to build in 2006, subject to Board approval, and then all the rest of the facilities happened in the eleventh year.  They weren't staged through the whole period.  They were all in the eleventh year.  


The two scenarios, where it all happens in '07 or it all happens in the eleventh year, which really is just putting bookends around the whole question.


MS. CALLINGHAM:  Yes.  Neither one of those are the likely scenario.  It is just giving you a range -- it is telling you the PI is going to be better than one and it is going to be, you know, in a range up to 1.2.


As I said, if you actually stage the facility additions in the order that they're planned for here, the PI would go to one, just with the addition of the Strathroy‑Caradoc part Parkway B section.  As you add further sections onto the system, the PI will improve, and it depends -- the magnitude of the improvement depends on the timing of the construction.  The earlier they are constructed, the more economic the long-term plan is.


MR. ROSS:  It may be my fuzzy lawyer math, but I think I'm sort of hearing two things here.  I wonder if you can help me out.  It sounds like, Mr. Isherwood, that this project -- that this assumption is back-end loaded, that there is an assumption of back-end loading, and it sounds -- what I'm hearing, as well, is that it may be front-end loaded.


Can you help me understand whether this is, in fact, a back-end loaded assumption in respect to capacity additions?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think the question that Ms. Callingham was trying to answer was:  How far out would you have to wait to still have a PI of one, if all the facilities got built in the one year?  So it's just trying to put a bookend to the question of:  If you get a PI of one, how far out would that have to be?  Is it year two, three, ten, eleven?  The answer turned out to be eleven.


MS. CALLINGHAM:  If no facilities were constructed.  However, that is unlikely.  We fully expect to be constructing facilities sooner, and the sooner we construct the facilities, the more economic it is going to be.


So should we construct the facilities that we're thinking -- we're planning on for next year and potentially construct facilities in '08 or '09 to meet the Ontario power markets, the economics will be in the range of 1.1 to 1.5.  It depends on the timing of the -- when the facilities are constructed.


MR. ROSS:  I would like to stay with this scenario for eleven years, but have you turn, please, to tab 1, interrogatory 6 attachment.  And I will give you a moment to turn that up.


MR. LESLIE:  Is that a TCPL interrogatory, Mr. Ross?


MR. ROSS:  No, it's a board -- it's an OEB interrogatory.  If you have it turned up in front of you, have you assumed that all the contracts to expire within the scenarios eleven-year period will be renewed at their current volumes?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Our basic premise going forward is that contracts that come up for renewal will be renewed at the current volume.


MR. ROSS:  And would you agree, in principle, that the long-term expansion can turn out to be less than 1,373,833 gJ a day within or by the end of the next eleven years?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  It's a possibility.


MR. ROSS:  And are the rates that underpin the revenue of your long-term expansion analysis assumed to be cost-based or do they contain a premium?


MS. CALLINGHAM:  The revenues included in the long-term plan for 2006 included the premium that was negotiated under the 2006 open season.  For facilities and demand served in 2000 and beyond, we assumed the current posted toll.


MR. ROSS:  I would like to turn to the incremental horsepower added at Dawn for a moment.


Can you please confirm that only approximately 25 percent of the incremental horsepower added at Dawn is required to meet the demands served by Union's proposed 2006 Trafalgar expansion?


MR. HYATT:  That's correct.


MR. ROSS:  And it's true, is it not, that Union only uses roughly 25 percent of its Dawn compression costs in its economic analysis?


MS. CALLINGHAM:  That's correct.


MR. ROSS:  And does the 75 percent of excess compression at Dawn provide any surplus capacity as of November 1, 2006 to the Union system in respect of Dawn to Parkway?


MR. HYATT:  No, it doesn't.


MR. ROSS:  None at all?  Any capacity ‑‑ by surplus capacity, I mean any capacity that you don't need for the 2006 facility.


MR. HYATT:  The 25 percent of the proposed Parkway compression will serve the forecasted needs for the 2006/7 winter.


MR. ROSS:  But I'm speaking, in particular, of the 75 percent of the excess compression at Dawn. Does the 75 percent of the excess compression at Dawn provide any surplus capacity as of November 1, 2006, to the Union system? 

     MR. HYATT:  Dawn-Trafalgar system is already at its capacity, so additional -- we don't really have the ability to move any more volume out of Dawn.  So that limits the use of the remaining 75 percent.  

     MR. ROSS:  Would you agree that Union assumes that the remaining 75 percent of horsepower at Dawn would be used to, quote, "meet future growth"?  

     MR. HYATT:  That's fair.  

     MR. ROSS:  And assuming no future growth, could some of the remaining 75 percent of horsepower at Dawn be used for the provision of storage service?  

     MR. HYATT:  That is a possibility.  

     MR. ROSS:  And if some of the remaining 75 percent of the horsepower at Dawn was used for storage capability, how would the appropriate amount of costs of the horsepower be allocated to the storage function?  

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  The way the cost is allocated, basically, is, there's a horsepower forecast done every year for the Dawn horsepower, and they forecast horsepower used for storage and horsepower used for transmission.  And based on that actual allocation - and today it is about 50:50, but it can change a little bit from time to time -- based on that actual allocation, it can allocate costs to the various rate schedules, based on that horsepower forecast.  

     MR. ROSS:  And if Union added extra -- the extra compression we've been talking about at Dawn, and M12 contract volumes don't increase, wouldn't existing customers be left paying for that extra compression?  

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  Essentially, what will happen is, 25 percent of the horsepower will be added to the -- to supply the horsepower for the transmission side of the equation.  Another 75 percent will be, basically, a reserve horsepower.  So when that final determination, in terms of the split between compression and transmission, takes place, and assuming it stays at 50:50 -- you apply the 50:50 to the forecasted horsepower, and then they would use the same ratio to apply it against the stuff -- or the horsepower that is still in reserve.  

     So the residual amount, the 75 percent, would be allocated partly to storage customers, partly to transmission customers.

     MR. ROSS:  And when you say “partly allocated”, how would that allocation between transmission and storage occur, and what would it be? 

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  It is based on the same ratio as the forecast for the horsepower that is being used.  The rule of thumb today is about 50/50.  

     MR. ROSS:  I would like to shift gears a little bit again, and explore the impact that this application may have on your M12 rates.  

     Would you agree that the results of your stage one DCF  analysis indicated a PI for the proposed Trafalgar facilities expansion program of less than 1.0?  

     MS. CALLINGHAM:  Yes.  

     MR. ROSS:  And would you agree that this represents a deficiency which will affect rates?  

     MS. CALLINGHAM:  Yes, it does.  It doesn't have a significant impact on rates.  The impact on the rates is identified in the response to Interrogatory question 43.   The PI of .83 -- just to point out, it is a long-term economic analysis, over a 30-year period.  And it is intended to show that over the life of the project -- what impact it has on rates.  

     However, constructing this project would allow us to construct more economic sections in the future, and when we construct those sections, those sections will benefit rates.  So it's appropriate to look at the long-term analysis as a more appropriate way to look at the impact that this -- adding this facility will have on rates in the longer term.  

     MR. ROSS:  But you would agree that the effect of the proposed additional transportation services on Union's Trafalgar system will result in an increase in rates for M12 service?  

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  As per the response to Interrogatory 43 for the OEB, the impact on M12 rates is approximately .4 of a cent on Dawn to Parkway.  It takes the rate from 7.7 cents, to 8.1 cent.  As I mentioned earlier, the range of M12 rates in the last ten years has been between 7.7 cents and 10 cents.  The ten-year average is about 8.8 cents.  So at 8.1 it is an increase of 4 or 5 percent, but it is still well within the range of M12 rates in ten years, and it is well below the ten-year average.  

     MR. ROSS:  I would like to refer you to Union evidence at section 5, page 4, paragraph 15.  No need to necessarily turn it up.  It's an indication of a PI of 0.83 and a negative NPV of 21 million.  

     Isn't it true that this PI and the negative MPV indicated here, means that customers, other than new shippers, will be asked to pay for some of the costs of Union's Trafalgar system expansion?  

     MR. HYATT:  Could I have that reference again? 

     MR. ROSS:  Certainly.  It’s a reference to a PI of 0.83 and a negative MPV of 21 million, set out at section 5, page 4, paragraph 18 -- paragraph 15, sorry, of Union's evidence.  

     MS. CALLINGHAM:  It's an indication that other customers would have to pay -- subsidize this expansion, provided that there was no future expansion over the next 30 years.  

     As I said before, constructing this facility will allow us, within a year or two, to construct a more economic facility, which we would not be able to do did we not add this facility.   And the true impact over -- to customers over the longer term is the long-term analysis.  

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  The other point I would add to that is, the Dawn-Parkway system has three major customers:  it has TransCanada, Enbridge and GMI.  And all three of those customers are also part of this expansion, as well, so they have the benefit of this expansion.  Unfortunately, there’s also a cost impact to that. 

     MR. ROSS:  I would like to refer you to section 5, schedule 11 of Union's evidence.  And it’s a schedule that has pages 1 through 3 on it.  I will give you a moment to turn it up.  

     I'm particularly concerned about the bottom line on each page, referred to as "revenue deficiency/sufficiency before tax".   I will give you a moment to turn it up.  

     MS. CALLINGHAM:  I have that in front of me.  

     MR. ROSS:  Does this line indicate the costs that customers, other than new shippers, would be asked to pay?  

     MS. CALLINGHAM:  As I said before, this would represent the costs -- this would be the costs, in excess of revenue coming in, that would need to be recovered from other customers if we didn't expand the system beyond 2006.  

     MR. ROSS:  And this same schedule shows that, excluding the first year, the deficiency amounts for the first 13 years of the 2006 Trafalgar facilities expansion program range from $5.1 to $5.6 million per year.  Correct?  

     MS. CALLINGHAM:  That's correct.       

     MR. ROSS:  And these would be the dollar amounts that you would have to collect from customers, other than the proposed new shippers?  

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  It would be from all M12 customers, including the new shippers.  

     MS. CALLINGHAM:  These would be the deficiency amounts that would be recovered from all customers.  This would be the revenue deficiency, absent any future growth, that would be -- would exist in our rate case.  

     MR. ROSS:  So just so I'm very clear, it pertains to amounts which would have to be collected from customers, other than proposed new shippers?  

     MS. CALLINGHAM:  I'm not sure what you mean by other than proposed new shippers. 

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  It would be from all M12 customers.  

     MR. ROSS:  All M12, okay. 

     I’d like to refer you to tab 7.  It's a VECC interrogatory, and it is Interrogatory Number 3.   And I will give you a moment to turn that up.  

     MS. CALLINGHAM:  I have it in front of me. 

     MR. ROSS:  I understand that your current M12 demand charge for Dawn to Parkway is $2.334 per gJ per month; is that correct?  

     MS. CALLINGHAM:  That's correct.  

     MR. ROSS:  And that your current M12 demand charge for Dawn to Kirkwall is $1.968 per gJ per month; correct?   


MS. CALLINGHAM:  Correct.


MR. ROSS:  If I could just take a moment, Mr. Chairman.  


Mr. Chairman, I just have a couple of questions in respect of the numbers coming out of tab 1, interrogatory 43, but I suspect I may be assisted in those, with your permission, to have a ten‑minute break to speak to some of my support team.


MR. KAISER:  We will take the morning break now, then, Mr. Ross.


MR. LESLIE:  Mr. Chairman, I wonder if I could just interrupt for a moment.  At this point, there probably isn't any real need, but it's my experience in these proceedings that notwithstanding the normal rule, counsel is allowed to consult with the witnesses about undertakings and things of that kind.  And, in this case, there may be a need to consult with respect to argument.


I have, in the past, asked for that permission and received it.  I undertake not to abuse the privilege, obviously, but I wonder if I could be allowed to speak to the witnesses about appropriate matters, notwithstanding they're under cross.  I don't, frankly, at this point see any need, but there may be a need later on.


MR. KAISER:  Any objection, Mr. Ross?


MR. ROSS:  No.  No objection, sir.  If we do have a break, I do want to just ask one question before the break that would assist with the calculations that we're looking at, if I may.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  Please proceed.


MR. ROSS:  It is in respect of an interrogatory from Board Staff at tab 1, interrogatory 43.  And within that, you state that given a negative MPV of 21 million and a PI of 0.83, the rate impact on current M12 demand charge in 2007 is as follows:  From Dawn to Parkway 0.004 to 0.081 dollars per gJ per month. 


I want to be clear.  Is this reflecting a range, or is this reflecting an amount of 0.77 plus 0 ‑‑ .004 dollars?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  You're correct.  The actual current rate today is .077 dollars per gJ per day, so 7.7 cents per gJ per day is the current rate, increasing by .4 of a cent to 8.1 cents per gJ per day.


MR. ROSS:  So it represents ‑‑ just so I am very clear, it represents an increase and not a range?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's right.


MR. ROSS:  Mr. Chairman, the reason I'm requesting a break is we had reviewed this earlier as being a range of .004.


MR. KAISER:  It was misleading.


MR. ROSS:  And, therefore, if we may have 10 to 15 minutes of time to recalibrate some of our questions in that respect?


MR. KAISER:  Fifteen minutes.


MR. ROSS:  Thank you, sir.


‑‑‑ Recess taken at 10:55 a.m. 

--- On resuming at 11:13 a.m. 

     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Ross? 

     MR. ROSS:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 

     Panellists, if I could go back to the same ground that we started to discuss. 

     MR. KAISER:  Excuse me, Mr. Ross, before we proceed.  Miss Nowina has an engagement.  We’re going to have to break at 12:00 for lunch.   Is that satisfactory? 

     MR. ROSS:  That's fine, sir. 

     MR KAISER:  Thanks.  

     MR. ROSS:  Panellists, if I could if pack to some of the ground we were starting to cover before the break.  In particular, it probably makes sense for you to turn up tab 1, Interrogatory 43, as well as section 3, schedule 4, of your evidence, as my questions merge the information in both of those areas.  

     I’ll give you a moment to turn them up.  

     MR. KAISER:  What was the last reference, Mr. Ross?  

     MR. ROSS:  The last reference was to Union evidence section 3, schedule 4.  

     If you're there, tab 1, Interrogatory Number 43, just so I'm clear, and so the record is clear, in respect of the 2007 impact on M12, demand charge Dawn to Parkway, the 0.004 number for 2007 reflects an M12 rate increase; correct? 

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.  Maybe I could just add a bit of clarity.  The units here is really dollars per gJ per day.  If you actually looked on a M12 rate schedule, you’d actually see the monthly rate.  And the monthly rate to go from Dawn to Parkway is $2.334 dollars per gJ per month.  So to get to the 7.7 cents, which is the basis of this interrogatory, you would take the 2.334 monthly rate, multiplied by twelve, and divide by 365, and you get the 7.7 cents.  And then the .4 cents here is really an increase to the 7.7, to get to 8.1.  

     MR. ROSS:  So.077 is a daily rate. 

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.  

     MR. ROSS:  Okay.  In respect to Dawn to Kirkwall again, a similar clarification question, 0.65 is the daily rate and 0.003 is the M12 rate increase daily? 

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.  

     MR. ROSS:  Thank you.  Just for clarity, my questions will pertain to daily rates, and will laterally lead into questions dealing with annual calculations.  

     Let me go through my questions.  Just for clarity, again, on the numbers set out in Interrogatory 43, tab 1:  do these numbers include the full cost of the applied-for incremental Dawn compression?  

     MS. CALLINGHAM:  Yes, they do.  

     MR. ROSS:  And if, in respect of the impact on M12 demand charges Dawn to Parkway, if one were to take the M12 daily rate increase of .004, and divide it by the daily rate that we have agreed is .077, this would work out, subject to check, to something like 5.2 percent of the current M12 demand charge.  Do you take that, subject to check? 

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  Sure.  

     MR. ROSS:  And a similar question in respect of Dawn to Kirkwall.  If one were to take the M12 rate -- daily rate increase of .003, and divide it by the daily rate of .065, subject to check, you would get a rate impact of 4.6 percent, or in that range?  

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.  

     MR. ROSS:  And tab 1, Interrogatory 43, shows a decrease in rates to residential customers.  Is that correct?  

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.   

     MR. ROSS:  Can you explain what causes that decrease?  

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  There's really a -- setting rates is really a two-step process.  The first step is to add the cost to the cost bucket, in this case, the Dawn-Parkway cost bucket.  And the Dawn-Parkway system, as you know, is used by residential customers, as well as by ex-franchise customers, as well.  So once the total cost of that facility is totalled, or added up, you then look at how you allocate the costs to the respective groups, in-franchise, ex-franchise.  

     In this case, the proportion that gets allocated to ex-franchise customers actually increases, because of the higher demands, now, to ex-franchise customers, providing 661,000 gJ of new capacity, essentially, to Parkway.  So that actually increases the divider more heavily towards the ex-franchise customers -- goes up higher, on a proportional basis, than does the total cost bucket go up.  So it actually ends up taking costs away from the in-franchise customers and allocates those costs to the ex-franchise customers, on the allocation methodology. 

     MR. ROSS:  Mr. Isherwood, I would like you now to turn to section 3, Schedule 4.  And I have a couple of questions to walk through some of the information there, and, in particular, the gJs for -- gJs per day for Parkway and Kirkwall in respect to TransCanada.  

     Would you confirm -- would you agree, in principle, that an annual dollar impact on TransCanada could be determined by multiplying the M12 rate increase in respect of Dawn to Parkway, that we have established is .004 -- and multiplying that by TransCanada's Parkway volume, which is indicated at section 3, schedule 4, as 312,250. 

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  That would be correct.  

     MR. ROSS:  And subject -- and multiplying that by 365, for an annual dollar impact -- 

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  Correct.  

     MR. ROSS:   -- since those are daily rates?   And, subject to check, would you agree that the impact on the M12 rate in 2007, looking at what we've discussed, the annual dollar impact on TransCanada for Dawn to Parkway contract demand would be 455,885, subject to check?   That is established by multiplying .004 by 312, 250 gJ a day, times 365 to get an annual amount?  

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  Mr. Hyatt did the math, and came up with $455,885 per year.  

     MR. ROSS:  Then we're in agreement on that.  And again, a similar process in respect of Dawn to Kirkwall.  That in order to achieve an annual dollar impact on TransCanada for Dawn to Kirkwall contract-demand shippers, would you agree this would be achieved by multiplying .003, - that is the M12 daily rate increase - by the Kirkwall volume for TransCanada of 1,175, 488 gigajoules per day, and that by multiplying that by 365 to get an annual rate, we would get something in the range of a dollar impact of $1,287,159 --  

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.  

     MR. ROSS:  -- as an annual impact?  And that, if we added the previously-discussed annual dollar impacts, we would get an amount in the range of $1.7 million for TransCanada; correct? 

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  Correct.  

     MR. ROSS:  And would you agree, and again, subject to check, if I were to go through the same process for all existing M12 customers, for Dawn to Parkway and Dawn to Kirkwall shippers, and added the annual dollar impacts together -- that is, go through the same process with the M12 rate increase of .004, multiplied by the total Parkway gJs per day of 2,600,396, and added that -- multiplied that by 365 for an annual figure, and then added that for the total -- totals for Kirkwall, .003 times 1281723, that - and again, subject to check -  we would get an annual dollar impact for all M12  customers in the range of $5.2 dollars?  

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct. 

     MR. ROSS:  So just to summarize then, the amount would be in the range of $1.7 million for TransCanada, specifically, as an annual dollar impact, and in the range of $5.2 million reflecting an annual dollar impact for M12 customers?  

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.  

     MR. ROSS:  And would you agree that, all other things being equal, and no future Union expansion beyond the current applied-for facilities, that the annual dollar impact we discussed in respect of TransCanada would result in an increase in TransCanada tolls starting in 2007, and continuing into the future?  

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct. 

     MR. ROSS:  And would you also agree that this increase in TransCanada tolls would impact most, if not all, customers in Union's franchise area?  

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  It would promptly affect the customers in the north.  

     MR. ROSS:  And this increase in TransCanada tolls would also impact most, if not all, natural gas customers in Ontario?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I would not agree with that, no.  Only those that would be using the TransCanada system.


MR. ROSS:  But you would agree that Union is a shipper on that system?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Primarily for our north customers, that's correct.


MR. ROSS:  And you would agree that Enbridge is a shipper on that system?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.


MR ROSS:  That assist and supply function -- a system supply function.  And would you also agree Union's direct purchase customers would also be affected?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Some, but not all.


MR. ROSS:  So can we agree that the increase we've talked about, in TransCanada's tolls, would impact a significant amount of natural gas customers in Ontario?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I don't know the exact amount.  It would certainly impact some customers primarily, in our case, in the north.


MR. ROSS:  Would you also agree that this impact to natural gas customers in Ontario is not reflected in the Board Staff Interrogatory Number 43 that we've discussed?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Interrogatory 43 for the Board Staff was primarily looking at the rate impact to M12 customers.  And, as well, residential customers, it impacted them, as well.


MR. ROSS:  But only for the cost on Union's system, correct?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Correct.


MR. ROSS:  If I could ask you to, once again, turn up tab 1, Interrogatory 6 - I'm moving into a little bit of different territory here - and the attachment at Interrogatory 6 reflecting a table of existing Dawn to Kirkwall and Parkway contracts.  I will give you a moment to turn it up.


Can you confirm, Mr. Isherwood, that the contract quantities shown on this schedule remain at the same quantity until the expiry dates shown; that is, the end date shown?


MS. CAMERON:  For some customers there is a schedule decrease or a ratchet down, specifically for GMI and for TransCanada Pipelines, but that is noted on the schedule.


MR. ROSS:  Are there any differences in terms between these M12 contracts set out at tab 1, Interrogatory 6, and the incremental M12 contracts underpinning the proposed expansion; that is, the application before the Board?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Union's contracts have been in existence --some of these contracts here go back into the '90s, '93, '83.  Some of them are quite old.  And, as a result, as the industry has evolved and as contracts have evolved, I would say most of the terms and conditions are very similar, but they certainly have evolved over time and have changes.  


Union Gas has just recently launched a process whereby we're going to be meeting with our M12 shippers and developing a new standard M12 contract that would become part of our filing for the 2007 rate case.  So we do recognize that if you go back through the years, back 20, 25 years, there's certainly been changes over time.  


So I would not say that these contracts are all identical nor are they identical to the ones that were part of the open season, but the open season document is reflective of the current standards as we see them, and reviewing that with our shippers to make sure they're that going forward, we have a new standard contract.


MR. ROSS:  So we can agree, then, that Union's existing M12 contracts are not ‑‑ are different in some ways than incremental M12 contracts.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I would say the business principles are the same.  If you looked at it paragraph by paragraph, comma by comma, you would see differences.


MR. ROSS:  Would renewal rates be different, for example?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Renewal rates are different throughout the term.  That's a good example of where the industry practice has evolved and changed over time, and to the extent that we're launching the new contract standardization process, we want to establish that new standard on all the contracts.


MR. ROSS:  Can we also agree that Union's existing M12 contracts are not uniform in nature?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  If you go back over 25 years, they certainly evolved over time.


MR. ROSS:  That existing M12 contracts may have different renewal terms, for example?  


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Again, they go back over 25 years.  There's certainly changes that have happened over that period of time.


MR. ROSS:  In respect of renewal rates?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.


MR. ROSS:  In respect of westerly flow rates?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I don't believe on westerly flow.  Renewal rates certainly have changed.


MR. ROSS:  And in respect of westerly flow, you state at tab 5, Interrogatory 2, and I quote - probably no need to turn it up - that:

"This application does not involve any incremental capacity contracts for westerly flow."


Does this mean that none of Union's incremental M12 contracts have westerly flow rates?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.


MR. ROSS:  And if there are differences between contracts, as we've established that there are, both in respect of existing M12 and in respect of incremental M12 contracts, and in the absence of a standard tariff, how would M12 customers know if they are being discriminated against?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  The intent of our standardization process is to expand the general terms and conditions which are part of the M12 rate schedule.  So things like the term renewal clause would be part of that new tariff and it would become standardized across all shippers.


MR. ROSS:  But if there are differences in contracts, as we've established, isn't it the case that M12 customers could be getting discrimination ‑‑ could be being discriminated against and simply not know that?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I would disagree with that.


MR. ROSS:  But if you have different parties that have -- you know, subject to different terms and in the absence of a standard tariff, couldn't it, at least in principle, be the case that there may be discrimination that a party would not know about?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think typically, as the M12 contract evolved over the last 25 years, typically it would happen at the time of a major build, so to the extent that we did a build back in the '90s, it's quite likely that the contract that a customer got shown in the '90s was different than the contract they got shown in the 1980s.  The shippers that were contracting at the time typically would have had similar terms and conditions and would be treated similarly.


MR. ROSS:  But the fact of the matter is that a party simply may not know whether it's being discriminated against or not, in the absence of a standard tariff.  In principle, they just simply may not know?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Is the issue primarily around the term provision?


MR. ROSS:  It could be in respect of any number of provisions, in principle.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  The comment we've had from the shippers in the recent past is some concern around the term, part of the contract, and that's why we've taken the step to meet with our shippers over the summer and to create a new standard contract.  If there is other parts of that contract that are a concern to shippers, we will certainly address them and deal with them over the summer.


MR. ROSS:  But in principle, if you don't know what everybody else is getting, for example, then it may well be that you could be being discriminated against and just not know?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think where the knowledge would come in, to be honest, is the open season that was done, the binding open season, a copy of the current M12 contract was attached.  So all potential shippers saw a copy of that contract and they would go back and look at that relative to their existing contracts, and, again, the only comment we really had was around the term provision, and I think we have taken steps to address that.  


If there are other provisions, then I'm sure they will get raised over the summer.


MR. ROSS:  Let me move forward to talk about in-franchise demand.  


I just want to be clear about one question I asked in respect to tab 1, Interrogatory 6, and the answer, I believe, was something in the lines of:  No decreases would occur until the expiry date shown.


I want to be clear, as well, that no volume step-downs occur in respect of the Gaz Metropolitan contracts starting at April 1 and going to March 31st, '06, and the Gaz Metropolitan contracts starting at April 1, '06 going to 31 March '07.


Are those the only two contracts listed there that have volume step-downs?


MS. CAMERON:  TransCanada also has a volume step-down and it is listed at the bottom of the page.  It is the second last one outlined.


MR. ROSS:  So the Gaz Metropolitan contracts and the TransCanada contracts indicated here are the only ones?


MS. CAMERON:  Yes.


MR. ROSS:  Okay.  I would like to move forward to the issue of in-franchise demand.  Is it Union's position that all in-franchise demand can be served by existing Trafalgar system capacity and non-facility capacity?  

     MR. HYATT:  Yes, that's correct.  We show that in the response to -- not in the response, but in section 4, schedule 1.  

     MR. ROSS:  Is it Union's position that the Trafalgar system is a joint-use integrated system, that serves both in-franchise and ex-franchise customers? 

     MR. HYATT:  That's correct.  

     MR. ROSS:  Is it possible to physically stream in-franchise-customer gas flows through specific Trafalgar system facilities?  

     MR. HYATT:  No, it is not.  

     MR. ROSS:  And if I could have you turn, please, to tab 5, Interrogatory 22, response E, and I’ll give you a moment to turn that up.   

     MR. HYATT:  That was tab 5?

     MR. ROSS:  Tab 5, Interrogatory 22, tab -- response E.  And I will read it into the record.  It's where Union states, and I quote:

"There is sufficient capacity with the existing facilities and a small amount of non-facilities service to accommodate the forecasted increase in in-franchise demand." 

     Can Union stream in-franchise gas so that it only -- that only it uses the non-facilities capacity, as discussed at tab 5, Interrogatory 22, response E?  

     MR. HYATT:  Can you repeat that question? 

     MR. ROSS:  Certainly.  Referring back to tab 5, Interrogatory 22, response E.  Is it possible - physically possible - for Union to stream in-franchise gas, so that it only uses the non-facilities capacity, as discussed in tab 5, Interrogatory 22 E?  

     MR. HYATT:  There's really two parts to this.  And really -- there is one part which is the operation, and from an operational perspective, you can't stream molecules to any one particular customer.  

     From an allocation perspective, it is possible to try and go through the approach that you would assign specific volumes to specific customers.  And that happens in the cost allocation approach that is used for the rate case.  

     So from a physical operation perspective, it is not possible.   From a rate-making perspective, we do take the approach of trying to allocate volumes to customers.  

     MR. ROSS:  Thank you, sir.  I would like to refer you to an aid to cross that I have provided to your counsel, and we'll provide copies to Board Staff and to the Board.  It is, specifically, page 13 of National Energy Board decision, GH-5-89, TransCanada Pipelines, which was a matter pertaining to the toll treatment of the capital and operating costs of proposed facilities.  And I’ll give people a moment to take a look at that.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Exhibit D 1.4, Mr. Chair?  

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you, sir.       


EXHIBIT NO. D1.4:  NATIONAL ENERGY BOARD DECISION

GH-5-89, RE TRANSCANADA PIPELINES LIMITED 

     MR. LESLIE:  Mr. Ross, could you give me that reference again?  You’ve given me a couple of NEB decisions -- 

     MR. ROSS:  Yes, sir.   It’s NEB decision, GH-5-89, TransCanada Pipelines Limited.  

     MR. LESLIE:  Thank you.  

     MR. ROSS:  Specifically, the statement that I am interested in is one that states, and I quote -- I’ll read it into the record --

“With regard to the debate as to who caused the need for the new facilities, the Board is persuaded by the argument that it is the aggregate demand of all shippers that gives rise to the need for additional pipeline capacity." 

     Would you agree, in principle, that the need for pipeline capacity could arise from the aggregate demand of in-franchise and ex-franchise customers, that is, all shippers?  

     MR. LESLIE:  Mr. Chair, I don't know where Mr. Ross is going to go with this line of questioning, but it does seem to me that the issues that he is raising in his question are really more properly issues that would be addressed in a rates case.  I don't know where this goes in a facilities case.  

     The question is really directed at who should pay, and whether the rates should be based on incremental demand, or total demand, or rolled-in rates or something else.  And we can do that, within limits.  These people are not experts on rate-making, but it does seem to me that there may be a question of relevance here.  

     MR. KAISER:  Well, I think the issue he’s raising, Mr. Leslie, is what is the rate impact of this whole exercise, and, in particular, on what customers.  It seems that that’s relevant.  

     Now, if these panel members are not the appropriate ones, then we can take that into consideration, but --

     MR. LESLIE:  All right.  Fine, sir.  

     MR. ROSS:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  

     I just have one question in respect of this particular statement from NEB decision GH-5-89, and I will repeat it.  

     Would you agree, in principle, that the need for pipeline capacity could arise from the aggregate demand of in-franchise and ex-franchise customers?  

     MR. HYATT:  The facilities are driven -- when you look at the total demand on the system, the facilities are driven by that total aggregate demand, the combination of the in-franchise plus ex-franchise customers on the system.  

     In this particular case, we had looked at it in a two-step process at section 4, schedule 1, just to try and show what was happening in that system.  And, prior to adding all of the new M12 customers, we did have enough capability to serve the existing in-franchise with a small amount of non-facility service.  And then, when we added on those additional demands to the total system, we needed to have the proposed facilities to meet that total demand, and then we also needed some additional non-facility service.  

     MR. ROSS:  One follow-up question, Mr. Hyatt.  If a significant amount of in-franchise demand was expected in any given year, would in-franchise customers be required to pay a premium to ensure service?  

     MR. HYATT:  No, they would not.  

     MR. ROSS:  Thank you. 

     I would like to move in a slightly different area now, and that is to some of the evidence that was given on the record in respect of the authority to negotiate rates for M12 transportation.  And I'm sensitive to timing.  I should be able to get through some, but not all of my questions, but I may come close before we have to take a break.  

     Is it Union's position that it has the authority to negotiate rates for M12 expansion capacity?  

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  It is Union's position we have the capability of having rates higher than or low than the M12 rate, and that that is clearly identified on the M12 tariff.  

     MR. ROSS:  But that you have the authority to negotiate rates?  

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  We have the authority to negotiate rates that are higher or lower than the tariff rate.  

     MR. ROSS:  And you claim -- it's your position that the OEB granted authority to negotiate -- gave you that authority -- gave Union that authority in the RP 1999-0017 decision; correct?  

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.  

     MR. ROSS:  And was Union's application in that decision for an order or orders approving or fixing just and reasonable rates, or other charges for the sale, distribution, transmission and storage, commencing January 1st, 2001, in accordance with performance-based rates -- with a performance-based rate mechanism?  

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  I believe so. 

     MR. WESENGER:  Did Union propose an initial five-year term for this PBR, starting in January, 2000?  


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Again, I'm testing my memory here, but I believe so.


MR. ROSS:  Subject to check, you would take that.


And would you agree that the Board determined a three‑year term for PBR in that decision from 2001 to 2003?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.


MR. ROSS:  Is it true -- it's true, is it not, that an earnings-sharing mechanism was a provision of the PBR plan that terminated at the end of the three‑year PBR term; correct?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.


MR. ROSS:  And that Union went back to a cost of service model in 2004; correct?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I'll make two points to that, I guess.  In terms of the 2005 cost of service that we're currently in, there is definitely earnings sharing above our allowed rate of return.  It's on the upside only, not on the downside, so Union is at full risk for the downside in terms of our earnings.


MR. ROSS:  I appreciate that, but in the context of that decision, decision RP-1999‑0017, you would agree that the earning -- that an earnings sharing mechanism was a provision of the PBR plan that the Board determined that was terminated at the end of the PBR term?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Earnings sharing was part of that framework and is part of our current framework, as well.


MR. ROSS:  Just so I am very clear, in 2004 Union went back to a cost of service model; correct?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.


MR. ROSS:  Was it Union's position in decision RP-1999‑0017 that no party would be disadvantaged by negotiated rates, that all parties would have access to posted rates and that bypass threats would be mitigated?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.


MR. ROSS:  Is it Union's position currently that M12 shippers who value capacity the most should receive that capacity?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  If I could talk in terms of the actual premium itself, I think there's a few points here that are important to talk about.


The first is that Union did not necessarily ‑‑ I wouldn't ‑‑ I want to pick my words carefully here, but in terms of negotiate -- we didn't actually negotiate the rates.  We allowed customers to bid the rates.  It wasn't like we were withholding service and trying to demand more money from the customer.  That was not the case at all.  It was simply allowing customers a chance to bid, to show their value.  


I mentioned earlier in my discussion that the real need and reason for that was to try to avoid pro-rating, which does not work very well for certain customers, power plants, some of the large shippers, as well, and the fact that the premium in the case we have today is not going back to the shareholder at all -- there is zero going back to the shareholder.  It's going back 100 percent for the benefit of the shipper.  


When we went to build this project, we knew that the PI in the first year was going to be less than one.  We thought that any customer that would bid a premium would actually contribute towards lowering the deficiency.  So the fact that some customers are willing to bid a premium benefits all shippers.  


That's not inconsistent with what we do on short-term transportation, on storage.  We have -- a lot of our rates are actually -- have a range or biddable feature to them.  So it is not uncommon for Union to do that.


MR. ROSS:  I would like to refer you, sir, to tab 1, Interrogatory 12.  It's a Board interrogatory, and I will give you a moment to turn it up.


In there, you agree ‑‑ you would agree with me that Union states that, and I quote: 

"Economic criteria were required to ensure that those shippers that valued the capacity the most received the capacity."


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Sorry.  I had the wrong reference.  Just a second.

     MR. ROSS:  It's tab 1, Interrogatory 12.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I have it now, thanks.


MR. ROSS:  It's the part of that that states that:

"Economic criteria were required to ensure that those shippers that valued the capacity the most received the capacity."


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.


MR. ROSS:  So we would agree that it is, based on this IR response, interrogatory response, Union's position that those M12 shippers who value capacity the most should receive that capacity?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think you have to go back to the non‑binding open season and to put the proper framework around it.  In that non‑binding open session, we actually had in excess of 2 Bcf a day of capacity bid from a very wide range of potential shippers.  It's obvious that Union Gas cannot build 2 Bcf a day of incremental capacity in any one year.  


So we expected going into the binding part of the open season that we may have shippers bidding for more capacity than we were actually able to create.  The fundamental point here that I don't think we have stated yet today, but we have been able to allocate everybody capacity that wanted capacity.  There is no one in 2006 that did not get capacity that they wanted it, which I think is fundamental to this.  


But in the framework of where we started from, 2 Bcf was just very large number that we had to be able to find some way to prioritize, and we looked at, as I mentioned earlier, a bunch of different criteria.  Term and premium were the two that we went forward with to give people more flexibility in their bids, and to reflect the value that some shippers were able to drive by the premium and to reflect the fact that some shippers just can't bid longer than ten years, so we needed to give them some other tool in the criteria to be able to evaluate and get a higher value.


MR. ROSS:  Just taking you back to that answer, sir, would you have been able to allocate that capacity without premiums; is that your position?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  No.  I think having hindsight is always 20/20; right?  But in terms of where we started from with 2 Bcf of capacity in the non‑binding open season, we would have needed both criteria.  As it turns out, the way the open season finally ended, all customers, including those that bid ten years and M12 rate, were awarded capacity.  


So there are people that bid the premium and there are people that bid longer term.  Both have economic value that are different than the last person that got capacity, which would be the ten‑year and M12 toll.


MR. ROSS:  I would like to refer you to an aid to cross that I provided to your counsel earlier, and it is Union's argument in the TransCanada 2004 tolls application at transcript line 8498, and I will give a moment to pass around copies of this.


MR. MILLAR:  D1.5, Mr. Chair.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MR. ROSS:  Thank you, sir.

EXHIBIT NO. D1.5:  UNION'S ARGUMENT IN THE TRANSCANADA 2004 TOLLS APPLICATION

MR. ROSS:  And in ‑‑


MR. ISHERWOOD:  If you could just wait one second, please?


MR. ROSS:  Certainly.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I have it now, thank you.


MR. LESLIE:  I'm sorry, Mr. Ross, I just want to make sure I have got the right reference.  Is this 2004?


MR. ROSS:  That's correct.  It's RH‑2‑2004, transcript line 8498.


MR. LESLIE:  I'm not sure I've got that.  I'm sorry.  I've got something ‑- is this the North Bay junction application?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  No.


MR. ROSS:  No.  No, it isn't.  It's the 2004 tolls application, TransCanada.


MR. LESLIE:  I have a hearing order.  Sorry, I didn't appreciate what was attached to that was Union's ‑‑ you say this is Union's argument?


MR. ROSS:  Yes, that's correct, sir.


MR. LESLIE:  It's an excerpt dated June 24, 2004?


MR. ROSS:  That's correct.


MR. LESLIE:  All right.


MR. ROSS:  It's an excerpt from that.  I will read into the record the piece, in particular, that I was concerned about.  It's at the very bottom of that page.  And it is an excerpt, that's correct, and I quote.

"Allocated efficiency of course is achieved when resources ends up in the hands of those who value them the most.  It is submitted that however useful this might be on a macro level to the health of the national economy, it only has a very peripheral role to play when set beside the fundamentals of the chosen toll methodology for a pipeline, in this case, cost-of-service‑based tolls that recover the revenue requirements through long-term firm services on a forward-year-fixed-toll basis and the statutory requirements that all such tolls not be unduly discriminatory."


Would you agree, Mr. Isherwood, that the position Union took in this matter, in the 2004 tolls application, is contradictory to the reference at tab 1, Interrogatory 4, in these proceedings, that shippers who value capacity the most should receive that capacity?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think it is very important to put in context the reference here.  In fact, I will say a few words, and I would like to actually add a reference from the same argument that was not included that I think adds perspective, as well.


But in this particular case, TransCanada was applying to the NEB to have a new service approved that had a biddable feature to it.  The concern that Union Gas had, and I believe many of the other intervenors, was that TransCanada's framework is primarily one of being risk free.  They have deferral accounts that capture, for example, the volumetric risk.  


So to the extent that they were forecasting 100 units of throughput and only 95 units of throughput occurred because of weather or de-contracting, the five units of revenue would be put it into the deferral account and recovered the next year.  So, in essence, they have zero market risk.  


If you put that in perspective against Union Gas, we have full volumetric risk.  If we have a warm winter or de-contracting during the year, we already have the rates established.  We're at full risk for that.  As a result, a lot of our rates do have a market component to them so we can actually try to mitigate and manage through any difficulties.


So the concern that we have with TransCanada with Schering was really one of them going towards a market-based type of rate, a biddable service, but having zero risk.  I could just read from another section of argument that Mr. Cameron read, this is paragraph 8506, and I'll read it into the record:

"One might also ask why TransCanada sought market-based holds for FTNR.  To increase the amount of allocated efficiency in the world?  This has no impact on TransCanada.  Far more probable is it that TransCanada is indeed doing what its shippers think it is doing, which is slicing the salami one service at a time, closer and closer to normal FT without engaging stakeholders in dialogue about the risk-sharing arrangements that should accompany that evolution."


So the concern we had was really around TransCanada moving to a market-based type of premium or market-based type of service without having any risk-sharing discussion as part of the same outcome.


So, it is a totally different framework, totally different construct, and I would argue it is different and it would be hard to draw comparisons.


MR. ROSS:  But if we can just touch on this difference for a second, isn't it the case that the toll methodology between Union's M12 transportation rates and TransCanada's FT or firm tariff is, in fact, not much of a difference at all?  Wouldn't you agree that those differences are very limited?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I would disagree.  In terms of -- I look at Union's ability to sell short-term transportation on Union's system.  It is a bid or negotiated toll, as well.  And I think going into the 1999 or the PBR case in 2001, I think if you look at all of our toll schedules, we have the capability of having raised higher and lower.  It's really to reflect the fact that we have market risk.


MR. KAISER:  But in this case, on these M12 volumes, are these customers not on the hook for the volume they're committed to?  


MR. ISHERWOOD:  These particular ones are, but in terms of from an industrial volume point of view, those contracts come up for renewal every year.  So to the extent that Stelco, Dofasco or Terra didn't renew or change their parameters, then you've got the risk for those.  


MR. KAISER:  These customers we're talking about, they're all a minimum of ten years or more?  Fixed volume commitment, or not?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Not so much on the throughput, but the demand charge for the contract right to ship is fixed.


MR. KAISER:  The volume is not?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  The volume is not, but there is no revenue on the volume either.  It is all demand charge.


MR. KAISER:  Right.


MR. KAISER:  All right.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  But there are other M12s that come up through the renewal process.  As stated earlier, our assumption is that they renew.  If they don't renew and they come in at a lower volume, that's a risk that Union Gas assumes.


MR. ROSS:  So we can agree, then, that all fixed costs for M12 contracts are covered by firm?  All fixed ‑‑ sorry, all fixed costs are recovered by M12 contracts?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  M12 demand charges, yes.


MR. ROSS:  Yes.  Okay.  If I could ask you to turn up tab 1, interrogatory 17, please.


If you're ‑‑ even if you are not there yet, I am wondering whether you can confirm whether Union's position is still that it has the ability to deny capacity to shippers that value at the least?


 MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think all pipeline companies, whether US or Canadian, including TransCanada and Union, have different policies and procedures in place to allocate capacity.  And typically it's done through net present value type of calculations, with term being the primary determinant.  So if there is ten ‑‑ if there is 100 units of capacity available and somebody bid that capacity four years and somebody else bid it for five years, the person with a five-year bid would get the capacity, and the person that bid five years would value it the most and that is true across the entire US and I believe Canada, as well.


MR. ROSS:  Would that be true even if shippers were willing to pay the cost-based Board-approved M12 toll for a minimum ten-year term?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  So in the case of -- assuming we didn't have the premium as part of the bid criteria and all we had was term, if you got down to the last 100 units and two people were bidding on it, the person that bid the longest term would be allocated the capacity.  That's true in US pipelines, as well.


MR. ROSS:  Can you accept, subject to check, that 100 percent load factor M12 posted rate is 7.7 cents per GJ per day?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.


MR. ROSS:  And can you confirm the rate premiums ranged as high as 6 cents per GJ per day?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.


MR. ROSS:  Would you also agree, subject to check, that this represents a 78 percent rate premium, derived by 6 divided by 7.7 cents per GJ?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think the important factor here is the Dawn-Parkway capacity is a very marketable capacity.  Marketers, an Exxon or a BP or Cempra, would provide similar type of service, and those type of rates are biddable.  Those numbers are being quoted in the market every day. 


So the fact that somebody is willing to pay a 6-cent premium is indicative of the value that pipe has for their company.


MR. ROSS:  But notwithstanding that, can you confirm that this represents a 78 percent rate premium?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I've not done the math, but it sounds about right.


MR. ROSS:  Is it Union's position, therefore, that it is able to extract whatever the market will bear from interested M12 shippers?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Again, if I were sitting down with that customer and I demanded a 6-cent premium to get access, then I would say we're negotiating a rate.  The fact that we had an open access, open season and somebody bid 6 cents, I think that is a different situation.


MR. ROSS:  But again, in principle, you would agree that Union is -- it's your position that you're able to get whatever the market will bear from interested M12 shippers?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think Union got, on behalf of its shippers, a premium of 6 cents.  That gets then applied against M12 rates to lower the rate for all shippers.


MR. ROSS:  But you would agree there is no rate cap restricting the amount Union is able to charge?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  There is no rate cap in terms of what somebody is willing to bid, that's correct.


MR. ROSS:  Are there currently M12 shippers on the Union system paying different rates for the same service?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  In terms of short term, there probably would be.


MR. ROSS:  And if premiums in this matter were approved by the Board, wouldn't M12 shippers be paying a different rate for the same service?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  There's already people contracting on Dawn-Parkway system for terms of one, two or three years that would be paying rates different than the M12 standard rate.


MR. ROSS:  But with respect to this particular proceeding, if premiums were approved by the Board, wouldn't M12 shippers be paying a different rate for the same service?


MR. LESLIE:  Sorry, Mr. Chairman, for interrupting again, but it is not my appreciation of the application or the nature of the proceeding that anybody is applying for approval of premiums or rates.


The rate numbers that have been reviewed are subject to Board approval, but I don't think in this proceeding.


The premium is in the bank, so to speak.  It's there.  It can be disposed of as the Board sees fit, but we're not asking the Board to do that in this proceeding.  That would normally, I think, take place in the course of the next rates proceeding, which is ‑‑ well, I'm not sure when it is, but it's within the next year or so.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Ross, as I understand, you're simply trying to establish the fact that in this case the shippers will be paying different rates?


MR. ROSS:  That's correct, sir, falling out of some of the information that has been demonstrated at tab IR.


MR. KAISER:  Whatever argument you may make on that we'll deal with, but I take it there is no question that that is a fact?


MR. LESLIE:  That's correct.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  May I just add, that term also has economic value, so somebody that ‑‑ two similar shippers in this open season, one may be in ten years, one may be in 15 years, and there is different value in that, as well.  So value can be measured both in terms of term, as well as premium.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Ross, would this be a convenient time to take the lunch break?


MR. ROSS:  Yes, sir, this is fine.


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, how long will the break be?


MR. KAISER:  One hour.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Leslie, we will probably be breaking today around 4:00, if that assists you.  We will be ready to hear your panel on environmental matters in the morning --


MR. LESLIE:  That would be very much appreciated.  Yes, thank you.


MR. KAISER:  ‑‑ to assist our schedule.


MR. LESLIE:  Yes.


‑‑‑ Luncheon recess taken at 12:00 p.m.


‑‑‑ On resuming at 1:00 p.m.


MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.  Mr. Ross.


MR. LESLIE:  Mr. Chair, I wonder if I could -- my friend, Mr. Waque is here and we wanted to report to you on the status of the negotiations.  We're hopeful of resolving the differences.  It's probably going to take a couple of more hours and I doubt that we'll be able to advise you with any certainty until tomorrow morning.


MR. KAISER:  That's fine.  Mr. Ross.


MR. ROSS:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  Mr. Isherwood, I would like to go back to some of the ground, just before we were -- just before the break.


You had indicated - and please correct me if I'm wrong - that there are currently short-term M12 shippers on the Union system paying different rates for the same transportation service.


Am I citing you correctly?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I believe there's two.


MR. ROSS:  And can you provide some details as to what those differing rates are for that short-term service?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I don't have the exact rates, but I believe there was a few years ago where we had two industrial customers come to us looking for capacity in Dawn-Parkway, and actually we didn't have the capacity at the time, so we went out and actually bought a service from a marketer, and then sold the service to the industrial customer.  So it was essentially the market rate that was established several years ago.


MR. ROSS:  Are there currently long‑term M12 shippers on the Union system paying different rates for the same transportation service?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  No.


MR. ROSS:  If premiums were approved by the Board in this matter, wouldn't long-term M12 shippers be paying a different rate for the same transportation service?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  To the extent that the premium would be dealt with at the '07 rate case, what's being dealt with, I guess, really is both the premium and the term.  And in my mind, both add value to the customer.  So the customer values the capacity based on the value of term and on the value of the premium.  They're both economic determinants.


MR. ROSS:  But to be clear, there could be M12 shippers paying a different rate for the long-term M12 shippers paying a different rate for the same service?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  It's quite possible, as a result of this open season, that two people with the same capacity or the same terms and conditions will pay a different rate.  It's also possible that two identical shippers will have different terms.  Some are ten years; some are eleven; some are longer.  So it is quite possible both will be different.


MR. ROSS:  For shippers in this application who agreed to pay a premium for M12 service - and I'm thinking, as a reference, tab 1, interrogatory 13, if you want to turn it up - what rate would they pay upon renewal of that service beyond their initial term?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  To the extent the contract ‑‑ the contract has a revision that it renews automatically unless either party, Union or the shipper, terminate it.  So provided the contract continues without either party renewing it -- or, sorry, cancelling it, it would continue to renew with the premium embedded.


MR. ROSS:  So it would be cost base plus premium?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  As it is for the first period, primary period.


MR. ROSS:  Do shippers have any alternative to the Union Dawn-Parkway system for gas transportation service in the Dawn-Parkway corridor?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Absolutely.


MR. ROSS:  They do have an alternative?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Absolutely.


MR. ROSS:  If I want to move gas from Dawn to Parkway, what are my options?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  You can contract on TransCanada.  They have a similar service, Dawn to Parkway, which, in some cases they're using our system as transportation in our system, but they're also using their integrated system where they actually use gas between the north and south route by shifting volumes from the south route to north route, i.e., the Great Lakes route up to northern Ontario.  They effectively create on their system Dawn-Parkway capacity.  


It's also very common in the market to go to a broker, a marketer, and get Dawn-Parkway capacity.  Union Gas did that, for example, for those two other customers I mentioned.  So there is all kinds of opportunities for customers to get Dawn to Parkway.


MR. ROSS:  Thank you, but specifically in respect to the physical flow, that's just Union, isn't it?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  No.  I would say, for example, some of the marketers and brokers have taken capacity on our system, and it's quite common for them to resell the same physical flow.


MR. ROSS:  Has Union conducted a market study on the Dawn-Parkway geographic market to determine the level of competition for gas transportation service?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  We have not.


MR. ROSS:  I am wondering if you could turn, please, to tab 5, IR ‑‑ Interrogatory 7, Response F, and I will give you a moment to turn it up.


In that response, Union states, and I quote:   

"In cases where a customer and Union cannot agree on mutually-acceptable terms, including price, that customer has the ability to contract for service under the M12 rate schedule and Union will provide the service."


I take it this is still Union's position?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Provided capacity was available, that's correct.  


MR. ROSS:  And if you take a look at tab 1, Interrogatory 12 - and you may not have to turn it - as a principle, would you agree with the statement that Union can limit requests for service based on the product of rate, that is, M12 tolls, and a premium and term?  


MR. ISHERWOOD:  As part of the binding open season process and in the cover letter addressing the terms and conditions of the binding open season, we gave shippers, potential shippers, the ability to bid base term and premium to establish the value of the contract.  


As I said earlier, the reason we did that was primarily because there were some parties that can't bid longer than ten years and needed the flexibility, and we also wanted to minimize or as much as possible eliminate the potential having to pro-rate capacity.  Using the Toronto power plant as an example, it would be devastating to a plant to be awarded 30 percent or 40 capacity of their capacity.


MR. ROSS:  But you would agree with me, though, on the basis of tab 1, interrogatory 12, that Union can limit requests for service on that basis?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  The process we went through was to start with the very highest value bid, based on the formula identified, and we went down that list until the capacity was fully utilized.  And as I had mentioned earlier, for '06 and '07, every customer that requested capacity got capacity.


MR. ROSS:  But, in principle, can you help me out with how a customer can contract for service under the M12 rate schedule when they cannot agree on terms with Union, while at the same time Union can limit requests for service based on the product of rate and term?  How can a customer contract for service under the M12 rate schedule, when they can't agree on terms with Union, but, at the same time, Union can limit requests?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think we have full agreement.  We have all capacity allocated and all customers have capacity wanted, so there is no customer outside the process.


MR. ROSS:  What if there had been more requests than capacity?  Speaking in principle, sir, what if there had been more requests than capacity?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  It's really not unlike any pipeline that goes through expansion, and TransCanada would be identical.  To the extent that, in any given year, you're only able to build a certain amount of volume into your construction phase, and depending on how many people are requesting capacity, at the end of the day you only have a finite amount you can allocate.  


So whether you use term as your determinant or whether you use term and price, at the end of the day you're still denying -- potentially denying customers capacity.


MR. ROSS:  So, in principle, you could be in a situation where you're denying customers capacity?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think every pipeline in North America has that situation.


MR. ROSS:  If Union was not allowed to charge premiums and there were more demand for capacity than capacity available, would one option for Union be to allocate expansion capacity a pro-rata basis?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  In the event that the formula did not include the premium and all we had was term, we would allocate capacity based on the longest term first, which is again a common practice in North America, and if you think about people bidding just an example of term, you have a lot people bidding ten years probably, fewer people bidding eleven, and, again, fewer bidding each year higher than that.  But as the utility allocating capacity, you would start with the longest term first and work down the list until you got to a bucket of customers that more than covered your last piece of capacity.  


So it's quite possible that you would get down to the 12-year, 11-year or 10-year group and have a very little bit of capacity to allocate across a very broad volume, and you end up getting some ridiculous numbers like a 30, 40 or 50 percent allocation.


MR. ROSS:  Sir, I would like to refer you to a Federal Energy Regulatory Commission statement of policy and request for comments.  It's a document that I provided to your counsel earlier, and I will give it a moment for Board Staff and members of the Board to obtain a copy.  It's a document issued January 31st, 1996, specifically referenced as Firk document numbers RM 95‑6-000 and RM 96‑7‑000.


MR. MILLAR:  D1.6, Mr. Chair.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

EXHIBIT NO. D1.6:  DOCUMENT ISSUED JANUARY 31, 1996, FIRK DOCUMENT NUMBERS RM 95‑6-000 AND RM 96‑7‑000.

MR. ROSS:  Thank you, sir.

     MR. ROSS:  And -- I’ll give people a moment to get the document.   It's, specifically, found at page 61240.  And it is in the left-hand column, within the first paragraph

-- I'm sorry, under the paragraph which states “Discussion of Negotiated Recourse Rates and Services.”  And it's within that paragraph, and starts, I guess, about halfway down.  And I’ll read into the record, for clarity, the section I want to discuss, and I quote:   

“Greater rate flexibility has previously been tied to showing that a pipeline lacks market power.  Under this method, however, the availability of a recourse service would prevent pipelines from exercising market power by assuring that the customer can fall back to cost-based, traditional service, if the pipeline unilaterally demands excessive prices or withholds service.  Thus, the recourse rate mitigates market power.  At a minimum, negotiated recourse services offer the potential for increased market responsiveness in pipeline services without protracted disputes regarding market power." 

     Now, sir, I recognize that you're not a lawyer - and I'm certainly not looking for a legal opinion - but as a policy matter, would you agree with the position that the availability of a recourse service prevents pipelines from exercising market power, by assuring that the customer can fall back to cost-based service, if the pipeline unilaterally demands excessive prices or withholds service?  

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think in the case of Union Gas, the OEB gave us approval to negotiate rates both above and below of M12 rate.  And the context of that approval was, if there were excessive power being exercised by Union Gas, the customer, the shipper, would have the capability of applying to the Board and -- for some relief.  And I'm not aware of anyone in this open season applying for that relief.  

     People -- again, I go back to the word “bid” versus “negotiated”.  But we’ve simply posted capacity that was available and people bid rates to accept that capacity.  And it was not so much us showing market power as us showing market flexibility 

     MR. ROSS:  It’s Union's position, I take it, that they feel they can charge rates higher than Board-approved, posted M12 rates, I take it. 

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  We can only charge rates that the Board authorizes us to charge, and they have authorized us to charge rates that are above and below the M12 rate.  

     MR. ROSS:  But you agree that there isn't necessarily an explicit check or balance on what you can charge; correct?  

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  The check and balance is that we would be reporting to the Board any rates that are different than the rates in the toll.  That's the first check.  The second check is shippers, if they feel disadvantaged, have the ability to apply to the Board.  

     MR. KAISER:  Could I just clarify one thing while we're on this point.  Did I understand you to say that the entire amount of this premium, which was about 143,000 -- none of it was going to the shareholders? 

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct. 

     MR. ROSS:  And it's decision RP1999-0017, as you've indicated earlier, which you believe gives you this authority; correct?  

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.  

     MR. ROSS:  But you would agree, would you not, that that decision indicated that negotiated rate authority would be addressed at the end of the PBR period; correct?  

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  I don't recall.      

     MR. ROSS:  But would you agree with me that this is not a blanket -- that decision does not give a blanket approval to negotiate rates indefinitely? 

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  The rate schedules we have in place today are still valid and effective.  And it's under those rate schedules that we offered a flexibility for shippers to bid.  

     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Ross, I think we're getting into legal argument here.  I don't think this witness can be helpful on that.  I understand where you're going, and you and Mr. Leslie can argue that point without worrying this witness about it.  Just what the Board's prior authorization constitutes -- you can deal with that in argument. 

     MR. ROSS:  I will move forward, then, sir.  

     And again, I stipulate with this next question, Mr. Isherwood, I'm not looking for a legal opinion.  But is it Union's understanding, in principle, that, in the absence of a competitive market, negotiated rate authority should only be given where there is a cost-based recourse rate to protect customers against the exercise of market power?  

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  To be honest I haven't given that a lot of thought.  

     MR. ROSS:  Excuse me? 

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  I haven't given that a lot of thought.  I don't know. 

     MR. ROSS:  But in principle -- 

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  For example, we have storage rates that are totally market-based storage rates.  And there is not necessarily a recourse rate for storage.  It's a market-based rate.  So I'm not sure you need a recourse rate in all situations.  

     MR. ROSS:  But isn't that because it's Union's position, in that case, that customers have other options for their storage? 

     Mr. LESLIE:  Mr. Chair, I think -- I mean, the witness has put the facts forward.  We all know why they did what they did, how they did it, what the alternatives were as they saw it.  The rest it seems to me are arguments, and, in my view, perhaps arguments that should be made in a different context.  

     MR. KAISER:  Well, at a minimum, they should be made in argument.  I don't think there is any point in pursuing this with this witness, Mr. Ross.  We understand the issue, and we can deal with it in argument, or you can deal with it in other forums, as the case may be.  But let's just try and stick to the facts, so we can get on with the argument of the case -- 

     MR. ROSS:  I will move forward, then, sir. 

     MR. KAISER:  -- rate-making theories.  

     MR. ROSS:  Mr. -- I may try one last question in this area,  Mr. Isherwood.  Are you aware of any other pipelines in North America which are able to charge negotiated rates without a recourse rate for firm, long-term gas transportation service? 

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  I've not studied North American pipeline tolls.  I don't know.  

     MR. ROSS:  Would you take, subject to check, that there are not?  

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  No  

     MR. ROSS:  You would not?  

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  I haven't -- 

     MR. KAISER:  I don't think that would be a very helpful answer to us, anyway. 

     MR. ROSS:  Okay.  Then no -- I have no further questions then, Mr. Chairman.  Thank you very much.

     Thank you very much, panellists, for your time. 

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  

     Mr. Scully were you next?


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. SCULLY:  

     MR. SCULLY:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.   

     As a set-up for my question, I’d just observe that, in QRAM and other rate applications, we’re used to seeing the rate results of any proposal in terms of various zones of Union Gas.  And as I recall them, they're the Fort Francis or the western zone, northern and eastern rate zones, and, finally, the southern rate zone.  But in this proceeding, in your presentations, you've shown the southern operations area versus the northern and eastern operations area.  

     I have in mind some further questions on this, on the Interrogatory number 43 of the Board Staff.  

     Can you just tell me what the process of consolidation is, to shrink the four rate zones for the Fort Francis, et cetera, down into the north-east -- north-and-east rate zone?  I'm not sure exactly who’s responsible for that.  

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  I’ll try to take a stab with that.  The purpose of this interrogatory is really just to give a high-level indication of the impact.  In terms of the north-eastern operations area, they would primarily be using Dawn-Parkway capacity to get storage gas out of Dawn and into those areas.  Using a service on TransCanada called “Storage and Transportation Service” - STS.  So the use of Dawn-Parkway system for north-eastern operations is really for STS operations.  So it would be that use that would attract those savings. 

     So in the case of 2007, on an annual basis, each customer of those regions would say $3.41, and, in the worst case, would be a savings of $1.34 per year.  

     MR. SCULLY:  I'm sorry, which service is this -- storage and transportation?  Like, which rate?  

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  It's a rate that’s embedded in the bundled service.  So Rate 1, for example, in the north -- part of providing service to the Rate-1 customers in the north-eastern area involves -- through a resource service from Dawn to those areas.  So that's the primary use of Dawn-Parkway.  

     MR. SCULLY:  Okay.  But I was more interested in how you go through the mechanics of arriving at that dollar amount for a single dollar amount versus -- it comes, I presume, in your calculation for -- first, split into four different rates.  And you've got it -- 

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  Right.

     MR. SCULLY:  -- squeezing together. 

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  It is just a high-level guide.  If it's of importance we can certainly come back with that broken out by the different delivery areas --  

     MR. SCULLY: No -- 

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  -- in that range. 

     MR. SCULLY:  I’m not -- I don't want you to do that for me.  I just want you to tell me how you put it together.  

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  Well, if --   

     MR. SCULLY:  Do you initially run the figures in your study, and get figures for each of the rate zones, and then add them together?  Like, how is that done?  

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  Each zone would use a different amount of Dawn-Parkway capacity, so you could actually calculate it by zone, I would think.  

     MR. SCULLY:  What did you do?  That’s what I want to know.  

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  This was actually calculated through our rates department, so I would have to go back and ask them the more detailed question.  But my sense is that each of the delivery areas in the north, the western area, the northern area, eastern, et cetera, would all have a different amount of use of Dawn-Parkway, and this would be sort of an average of that.


MR. SCULLY:  Okay.  I would like the answer to that, Mr. Chairman, but it's something that I don't care when it is produced and it won't influence my position today.


MR. KAISER:  Why do you need it if you don't care when it is produced?


MR. SCULLY:  Well, it's for future reference.


MR. KAISER:  Do you have any problem, Mr. Leslie, on that?


MR. LESLIE:  I was just going to say we can get Mr. Scully the information for that purpose.


MR. KAISER:  All right.


MR. SCULLY:  And then, as regards the differential and the impact between the south and the north-eastern operations, I presume that is primarily a head count differential that -- it is a savings of 73 cents in the south, but a savings of 3. ‑‑ $3.41 in the north just because there are fewer customers up there; is that ‑‑


MR. ISHERWOOD:  No.  It is really reflected based on the demand that those customers have on the system.  So in the south, the Dawn-Parkway system serves the entire south, but if you think of the Dawn-Parkway system running from essentially Sarnia to Toronto, there's gas coming off all along that system, so the use of the Dawn-Parkway system for in-franchise southern customers is actually lower than you would expect.  For the northern and eastern customers, they use the full length of the system because they need to get the gas from Dawn to Parkway to the TransCanada to get up to Sudbury and Thunder Bay, et cetera.  So it is really very much determined on how they use the Dawn-Parkway system.


MR. SCULLY:  Okay.  And then I'm interested in why the credit prevails in the sixth year for the northern and eastern operations area, but in the south you're into a charge.


What yields that differential?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I would have to get back to you on that one, as well, Mr. Scully.  I'm not sure what happens in the sixth year.  I know in terms of the analysis done in 2007 as being, what's the impact on the first year, and then in terms of the cash flow analysis that Ms. Callingham did, year 6 had really the biggest impact, so that was why year 6 was chosen, but in terms of the details, I would have to get back to you on that.


MR. SCULLY:  Okay, that's acceptable to me.  Those are all the questions I had, Mr. Chairman.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Scully.  Mr. Gruenbauer, do you have any questions?


MR. GRUENBAUER:  Yes, sir, I do, just several.  Thank you.


MR. KAISER:  Could you come over to the middle so the witnesses gets to see you a little bit better?


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. GRUENBAUER:

MR. GRUENBAUER:  Most of my questions will be for Mr. Hyatt and Mr. Isherwood.  Mr. Hyatt, if you could turn up Board Staff Interrogatory Number 27 at page 2?


MR. HYATT:  I have that.


MR. GRUENBAUER:  Thank you.  At paragraphs 4 and 7, it speaks to regression analysis that's done to estimate the temperature-sensitive portion of the load for forecast purposes, and the question that I wanted to ask you about was how Union derived an estimate of the base load that's part of that design date peak.


MR. HYATT:  When we look at the estimate of the design data, what we have looked at is we look at the entire usage from November 1 through March 31st and look at the volumes for each day, and we do exclude the weekends just because they do have some different impacts.


But we use the volumes for the weekdays through that period, and we do a regression against the actual temperatures that we experience during that period.  So we believe that we have a regression that goes all the way from weather that is relatively mild - they could have an early November - through the very coldest periods in January.


So the regression that we've done really does cover the entire gamut, from warmer weather through the coldest weather.


MR. GRUENBAUER:  Thank you.  Is it more difficult to estimate a base load or a non‑temperature sensitive portion of the load for the contract service class?


MR. HYATT:  Depending on the contracts' usage pattern, it can be a little more difficult to estimate the design day demand for a contract customer.


MR. GRUENBAUER:  So to the extent that -- for example, if you understated the base load, the non‑temperature sensitive portion of the load, if you understated the base load, then that presumably could result in an overstatement of the amount that would be subject to temperature, the temperature-sensitive portion of the load and vice versa?


MR. HYATT:  Could you repeat that question?


MR. GRUENBAUER:  I will try to make it a little more simple.  If there is an error in estimating the base load, would you expect sort of an offsetting error in the temperature-sensitive portion, or if you got the base load wrong, then that would result in an error in the regression as far as the temperature- sensitive portion of the load is concerned.  And when you put the two pieces together, that might result in something different for the design date peak?


MR. HYATT:  Perhaps I can clarify.  We really don't split the load between base and temperature sensitive.  We're looking at the total volume that's being used by the customer and doing regression through that data.  So I believe we really have covered off both the impacts of base load plus temperature-sensitive load on a combined basis.


MR. GRUENBAUER:  Thank you.  If I could ask the panel to turn up Board Staff Interrogatory No. 6 and No. 22? 


MS. CAMERON:  We have it.


MR. GRUENBAUER:  Thank you.  With respect to Interrogatory Number 6, the attachment, are any of the contract parties identified on that schedule in‑franchise customers?


MS. CAMERON:  Yes.


MR. GRUENBAUER:  Could you identify them, please?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Ford and PVG and SunCorp, and it is likely that some of the other marketer volumes, for example, from Nexxon, would be used for in-franchise use, as well, probably.


MR. GRUENBAUER:  Thank you.  If you turn to Interrogatory Number 22, Board Staff, the attachment there, that lists the contracting parties for the open season for 2006.  You've identified that there is three parties on that schedule, I believe, that are in‑franchise customers; is that correct?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.


MR. GRUENBAUER:  Including City of Kitchener, which I represent?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.


MR. GRUENBAUER:  Would you take it, subject to check, that the total on Interrogatory 22 for those three in‑franchise customers is -- if I did my math correctly, I get 33,160 gJs per day.  That's the sum of TransAlta, Stelco and City of Kitchener.


MS. CAMERON:  Yes, subject to check.


MR. GRUENBAUER:  Thank you.  Just a general question.  In Union's view, what would be the benefit of in‑franchise customers contracting on a long‑term basis for M12 service, which has traditionally been an ex‑franchise service utilized by parties such as Enbridge and TransCanada Pipelines and other parties outside the geographic franchise area of Union south?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  In‑franchise customers typically have an obligation‑‑ sorry, in-franchise customers that are direct purchase have an obligation to deliver a significant part of their volumes to Parkway on a firm basis.  A lot of the in‑franchise shippers or customers would like to get back to Dawn to get back to the more liquid hub.


So for us to convert from a Parkway receipt point to a Dawn receipt point, the customer ‑‑ it's required for the customer to go get a Dawn-Parkway service.


MR. GRUENBAUER:  Thank you.  And is it your view that that obligation to deliver gas at Parkway for in-franchise customers, that requirement isn't going away any time soon, is it?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  It is not.


MR. GRUENBAUER:  I think we've heard, Mr. Isherwood, that the benefit of the premium is really from the bid to increase the value of that bid to the customer.  Is that a fair restatement of what I've heard this morning?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  It's really a tool to give to customers to allow them to bid both term and premium.  So for those customers that are restricted from going longer than ten years, it still gives them the chance to participate in increasing the value of their bid.  What it really does is, because you have two parameters are independently being bid, it makes the chance of pro-rating much smaller, than just having the term by itself.  

     MR. GRUENBAUER:  So in that regard, there is really no difference between the in-franchise and ex-franchise customer, insofar as the value of bidding that premium is concerned. 

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.  There was no differentiation between the two.  

     MR. GRUENBAUER:  Okay.  With respect to the open season, that was conducted and the letter that was sent out back in November, did Union consider just issuing that open season without a premium and/or for less than a ten-year minimum term, for example, a five-year term?  And if not, why not?  

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  Union's policy for building Dawn-Parkway system has been pretty consistently around ten years, so that's a carry-on from past bills, and I think it is consistent with a lot of other pipelines, as well.  

     We did consider not using the premium as a determinant.  But again, going back to the primary reasons, some people can't bid longer than ten years and want flexibility.  And also, it really does -- if you look at some of the combinations and permutations, it really does minimize the potential for pro-rating.  

     MR. GRUENBAUER:  Thank you.  Mr. Isherwood, do you recall, several years ago, that Union offered, for its in-franchise customers in the south, a service called “Dawn Flexibility” and “Dawn Buy-Up”? 

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.  

     MR. GRUENBAUER:  I believe it went from November, 2000, until October, 2003. 

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.  

     MR. GRUENBAUER:  Does that sound correct?   The Dawn Flexibility allowed the in-franchise customers the capability of delivering 20 percent of their daily contract quantity at Dawn at  no cost, if I recall correctly. 

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.  

     MR. GRUENBAUER:  And the Dawn Buy-Up was for a three-year term, and a party -- an in-franchise customer in the south that wished to avail themselves of that buy-up would have entered into a three-year agreement, basically paying for that service according to the M12 toll flat.  Is that correct?  

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think the history of that Dawn Flex that was done -- I forget the year you mentioned, to 19 --

     MR. GRUENBAUER:  I believe it was November, 2000. 

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  2000?  It was really based on -- TransCanada had turned back to Union Gas, on a temporary basis, some capacity -- Dawn-Parkway capacity.  So, by them turning it back on a short-term, three-year basis, we were able to offer that back to our in-franchise customers to move them from Parkway back to Dawn.  We’ve had a lot of customer comment that they would much rather be at Dawn than at Parkway, because of the flexibility and liquidity of Dawn.  So, because TransCanada was willing to turn back capacity for a short period of time - three years - we were able to offer a temporary service.  At the end of that three years, people reverted back to Parkway. 

     MR. GRUENBAUER:  I think you're probably anticipating my next question, which is, assuming these facilities are approved by this Board on a going-forward basis, does Union foresee similar conditions arising such that that sort of flexibility or optionality might become available?  

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  I, personally, don't.   

     MR. GRUENBAUER:  Okay. 

     If I could ask you to turn up tab 3, number 7, Interrogatory of Kitchener.  

     I think, Mr. Hyatt, this is for you.  This Interrogatory relates to section 4, schedules 2 and 3, in the pre-filed, in volume 1.  If you could turn those up -- those two schedules up, as well.  

     MR. HYATT:  Yes, I have those.  

     MR. GRUENBAUER:  I need to get there, myself. 

     In section 4, schedules 2 and 3, Mr. Hyatt, would you just explain what the purpose of these two schedules is, with respect to your application?  

     MR. HYATT:  Yes.  The two schedules -- schedule 2 shows the demands on the Trafalgar system, and our system capacity with the existing facilities, prior to adding the open season.  

     Schedule 3 shows the same data having added on the incremental demands for the open season - the incremental facilities - and shows the capability at that point.  

     And both of those are for the 2006-2007 winter.  

     MR. GRUENBAUER:  We heard earlier from Mr. Isherwood that an in-franchise customer such as City of Kitchener would arrange for M12 transportation to support its obligation at Parkway.  You would agree with that, I take it?  

     MR. HYATT:  Yes.  

     MR. GRUENBAUER:  I guess what is confusing me about these two schedules, Mr. Hyatt, is, in the section at the middle of this schedule, the system capacity?  You see where it says _ _ 

     MR. HYATT:  Yes, I do.  

     MR. GRUENBAUER:  -- in brackets it says “including obligated deliveries of 740,354 gJs per day”?  

     MR. HYATT:  That's correct. 

     MR. GRUENBAUER:  I see the same number in both schedules, in both -- in the before and after pictures.  And that's the source of my confusion.  And perhaps you can help me there.  

     This was the purpose of our Interrogatory number 7.  It struck me that the in-franchise customer that’s arranging for M12 capacity - for example, city of  Kitchener with our 4,000 gJs per day - we're simply going to utilize Dawn-Trafalgar capacity to get 4,000 gJs to Parkway in a  different way than we're getting those 4,000 gJs to Parkway.  

     I was just wondering if there was some sort of double-counting that might affect us on this schedule, and the other two in-franchised customers that are part of that 2006 build.  

     MR. HYATT:  No, there is not any double-counting.  The obligated deliveries of 740,354 would include the volumes that the City of Kitchener would have obligated to deliver at Parkway.   And what they have done is simply chosen, using the M12 transportation, to change the way they deliver their obligated delivery to Parkway.  So it really does not change the level of obligated deliveries.  It really only changes the way the City of Kitchener got that obligated delivery to Parkway.  

     MR. GRUENBAUER:  Thank you for that. 

     Those are all my questions, Mr. Chairman.  Thank you.  

     Thank you, panel. 

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  

     Mr. Rowe, do you have any questions? 

     MR. ROWE:  No, sir, Mr. Chair.      

     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Millar?

     MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

     My friends representing the intervenors have been very thorough, so most of my questions have already been asked. 

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. MILLAR: 

     I did wish to clarify a matter, and if I could direct the panel's attention to section 5, schedule 7, and section 5, schedule 9.  These are the discounted cash flow analyses.  

     MR. HYATT:  What schedules were those, again? 

     MR. MILLAR:  Schedule 7 and schedule 9.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Do you have that?

     MR. HYATT:  Yes.  

     MR. MILLAR:  And these questions are really by way of clarification, so, starting at schedule 7:  I understand that this is the DCF for the expansion that is proposed here today, the “2006 expansion” I think we have been calling it; is that correct? 

     MS. CALLINGHAM:  That's correct.  

     MR. MILLAR:  And under “Cash Inflow”, I see, at the top, the number -- I guess, it’s  $11,271,000.  And it's the same all the way across the top.  I take that to be the value of the M12 contracts?  

     MS. CALLINGHAM:  Yes. 

     MR. MILLAR:  And that includes the premium, as well? 

     MS. CALLINGHAM:  Yes, it does.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Is there anything else that makes up that number, the revenue number?  

     MS. CALLINGHAM:  No.  

     MR. MILLAR:  And if we look at schedule 9 - this is the long-term discounted cash flow - I see that, under year 1, the numbers I believe are identical, and I guess that would reflect the 2006 expansion.  

     For the next year, the numbers jump quite a bit, and I understand that this is to account for a future expansion.  

   
MS. CALLINGHAM:  The increase in revenue relates to the future expansion that was identified on schedule 10.  The incremental demands that we would serve if the future expansion projects were ...


MR. MILLAR:  That number we see of 49,752,000, does that include the 11 million, the 11,271,000?


MS. CALLINGHAM:  Yes, it does.


MR. MILLAR:  So it is a jump of 38-odd-million?


MS. CALLINGHAM:  Yes.  For purposes of the economic analysis, we've included a maximum of 30 years of revenue recognition in accordance with the guidelines that have been established by the Board.  If you look on page 3 of Schedule 9, in the thirty-first year, the only incremental revenue that remains is the incremental revenue that was attached to the demands that were added in the second year of the analysis.


MR. MILLAR:  I see.  Thank you.  And you've indicated that the figure of 11 million comes from the M12 contracts that we've heard about today.


How did you forecast the rest of the -- the other 38 million?


MS. CALLINGHAM:  I assumed that the demands that are shown on Section 5, Schedule 10, incremental system capacity, would be sold to ex‑franchise demands at Parkway at the existing toll.


MR. MILLAR:  And I assume we don't have firm contracts for these numbers?


MS. CALLINGHAM:  No.


MR. MILLAR:  And is there an application before the Board for this next application or for ‑‑ pardon me, for this next expansion?


MS. CALLINGHAM:  We currently don't have an application before the Board.  We're anticipating that we might file something in the fall.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think it is fair to say this table reflects the one scenario that was run that assumed all the facilities got built in 2007.  That's obviously not going to happen.  It is sort of a case that was run to determine what the best economics would be.


MR. MILLAR:  I see.


MS. NOWINA:  Can I ask a question, Ms. Callingham?  Does that also assume the full utilization of the capacity?


MS. CALLINGHAM:  Yes, it does.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


MR. KAISER:  Can I follow up with a question?  The $49 million figure, which you get in years two and following in Section 5, Schedule 9, i.e., the increased revenue as a result of the new facilities, does assume all new facilities are put in in '07, as you've just referred to in Schedule 10?


MS. CALLINGHAM:  For purposes of the long‑term analysis, we were attempting to demonstrate what the economic benefit would be when we completed the remaining facilities, to finish the fourth line between Dawn and Parkway and add compression.  We don't expect that all of those facilities will be in service in '07.


MR. KAISER:  No, I understand that.  Schedule 10, as I just heard your answer, was assume it is all built in '07.


MS. CALLINGHAM:  Yes.


MR. KAISER:  Which Mr. Isherwood says is unrealistic.


MS. CALLINGHAM:  Right.


MR. KAISER:  So if I were to look at Schedule 9, which you've now explained - the $49 million is assuming everything is built in '07 - what would those numbers be if we assumed what you think is realistic, or could you do that calculation?


In other words, we're jumping from ‑‑ here is the problem I have.  We have the one situation in Schedule 7 where we've got the 11 million right across, and you say, Yeah, but that's not -- really, that's not really the real world, because we're going to build some additional stuff and this is going to make this thing more profitable.  Then you jump to the next schedule and you assume it is all built in '07 and say, But that is not really the real world, either.  


Can you give us a new schedule that is your view of the real world; i.e., what these numbers would look like if you built them as you think is realistic?


MS. CALLINGHAM:  I can give you an idea of what the capacity is for each of the sections.


That was identified on the response to Enbridge, question number 2, and that response breaks down the total capacity that is shown on Schedule 10 by each of the facilities that we're planning to build in the future.


MR. KAISER:  Can I -- just to make it simple for me, could you re-do Schedule 9 on the basis that it didn't assume that everything was built in '07, but just that part you actually think will be built in '07, and the rest when you think it is going to get built, so we see what you believe is likely to be the forecasted revenue in reality over this ten‑year period?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Perhaps a case that would be useful would be -- I think our best estimate now would be to do two facilities in '07.


MR. KAISER:  Right.  I heard that.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  And two in the second year.  And my best estimate today would be one more facility in '08.  After that, it becomes fairly uncertain, but maybe the rest of the facilities we could add in the eleventh year just as a placeholder.  But I think you would find the economics very positive by adding those facilities over '07 and '08.


MR. KAISER:  Even if you did the '07 and '08, could you give us those numbers; i.e., just re-do the top line?


MR. LESLIE:  Mr. Kaiser, if I might, just for clarity, there is a schedule, as I understand it, that tells you what the numbers look like if you assume everything is done in the eleventh year.  Is that...

     MS. CALLINGHAM:  I'm not sure we provided a schedule.  We indicated that the break-even point was eleven years.


MR. LESLIE:  All right.


MS. CALLINGHAM:  I had done some sensitivity analysis that constructing the Strathroy‑Caradoc Parkway "B" compressor in '07, in constructing the Bright-See facility in '08, and the balance of the facilities over a five‑year period and I got a PI of 1.14.


So -- but there wasn't any -- wasn't really a specific forecast.  It was taking a shot at what the economics would be if the facilities were constructed every two years after a certain point.  If that's valuable, we can produce that schedule.


MR. KAISER:  I think what would be valuable is if you re-did Schedule 9 and, instead of showing it jumping to 49.7 million in years 2 and following, did it on the basis that in '07 you were going to build two and in '08 you were going to build one, and maybe the rest you were going to build at the end, then that is your best guess of how things are likely to unfold.


This schedule doesn't represent how you think it is going to unfold at all.


MS. CALLINGHAM:  No.


MR. KAISER:  So it is not much use to us nor is the previous schedule.  That's not really how you think it is going to unfold, because you're not just going to build what is being described in this application today.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's right.


MR. KAISER:  This project makes sense if you build some other stuff.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.


MR. KAISER:  So let's give us your best estimate of what the real world looks like, just adjusting these schedules.


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, would you like an undertaking to that effect?


MR. KAISER:  Yes, thank you.


MR. MILLAR:  U1.1, Mr. Chair.


UNDERTAKING NO U1.1:  TO PROVIDE ADJUSTED SCHEDULES

MR. KAISER:  Mr. Leslie, if you could do that tonight and e‑mail it to us at whatever hour, that would be helpful.


MR. LESLIE:  Is that possible?


MS. CALLINGHAM:  Yes.


MR. LESLIE:  We will.


MR. KAISER:  Go ahead, I'm sorry.


MR. MILLAR:  I just have one more question.  This regards the revised Section 5, Schedule 2, and this is the revised blue sheet that Mr. Leslie provided this morning.  And the relevant change is a change, I guess, in the thickness of the coating.


I just wanted to confirm with the witness panel that this change meets all applicable CSA standards.


MR. MALLETTE:  Yes, it does.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.  Those are my questions.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Leslie, any re‑examination?


RE-EXAMINATION BY MR. LESLIE:

MR. LESLIE:  Just one question.  Mr. Isherwood, TCPL's name appears in the customer list in connection with this expansion?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes, they do.


MR. LESLIE:  Have they contracted for capacity in connection with the proposed expansion?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes, they have.  They have contracted for about a third, maybe a little bit better than a third, of the total.


MR. LESLIE:  So I take it that this expansion is being, in part, at least, to meet their demands?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Absolutely.


MR. LESLIE:  Those are all my questions.


MR. KAISER:  Anything further, Mr. Millar?


MR. MILLAR:  No, Mr. Chair.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Leslie, we will come back at 9:30 to hear your subsequent panel.


MR. LESLIE:  Yes.  Thank you, sir.

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 1:50 p.m.  
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